The Nelson Mandela AFrican Institution of Science and Technology

NM-AIST Repository	https://dspace.mm-aist.ac.tz

Materials, Energy, Water and Environmental Sciences

Masters Theses and Dissertations [MEWES]

2024-07

The removal of arsenic from synthetic solution using a sand filter coupled with zero valent iron

Edward, Daniel

NM-AIST

https://doi.org/10.58694/20.500.12479/2732 Provided with love from The Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology

THE REMOVAL OF ARSENIC FROM SYNTHETIC SOLUTION USING A SAND FILTER COUPLED WITH ZERO VALENT IRON

Daniel Edward

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Environmental Science and Engineering of the Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology

Arusha, Tanzania

July, 2024

ABSTRACT

Contamination of groundwater with arsenic (As) poses a serious risk to public health, demanding the development of effective remediation technology. This study investigated the use of sand filters coupled with of zero-valent iron (ZVI) for removal of arsenic from synthetic solutions as the function of ZVI dosage and contact time. ZVI materials, including iron wool, iron fillings, and iron nails, were investigated and compared for their efficacy in removing As from synthetic solutions. The experiment employed synthetic solutions spiked with As compounds (set to be 1000 μ g/L) to simulate contaminated groundwater scenarios. The concentrations of As in the influent and effluent samples were used to calculate the efficiency. The findings indicate that all three forms of ZVI tested exhibited significant As removal capabilities. Iron wool, iron fillings, and iron nails demonstrated varying efficiencies, likely influenced by their surface area, reactivity, and specific surface chemistry. According to the findings, iron wool-containing sand filter was more effective at removing As than iron filings and iron nails. As removal efficiency increased with increase in ZVI dose. The results show that As can effectively be removed from water in the first 48h. The highest removal efficiency was 99.6% and the lowest removal efficiency was 82.7%. These results suggest that ZVI materials could be promising candidates for practical applications in As-contaminated groundwater treatment systems. This study contributes valuable insights into the use of inexpensive and widely available ZVI materials for As remediation, highlighting their potential as sustainable solutions for addressing water quality challenges.

DECLARATION

I, Daniel Edward, do hereby declare to the Senate of Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology that this dissertation is my original work and it has neither been submitted nor being concurrently submitted for degree award in any other institution.

Daniel Edward

Date 14.08.2024

Name and signature of the candidate

The above declaration is confirmed by;



Prof. Karoli N. Nja<u>u</u>

Name and signature of supervisor



Dr. Juma Rajabu Selemani

Name and signature of supervisor 2



Dr. Grite Nelson

Name and signature of supervisor 3

Date 14.08.2024

Date 14.08.2024

Date 14.08.2024

COPYRIGHT

This dissertation is copyright material protected under the Berne Convention, the Copyright Act of 1999 and other international and national enactments, on that behalf, on intellectual property. It must not be reproduced by any means, in full or in part, except for short extracts in fair dealing; for researcher private study, critical scholarly review or discourse with an acknowledgement, without written permission of the Deputy Vice-Chancellor for Academic, Research and Innovation, on behalf of both the author and the Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology.

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned certify that they have read and found that the dissertation conforms to the standard and format acceptable for submission. Therefore, do hereby recommend for acceptance of dissertation entitled "*The removal of arsenic from synthetic solution using a sand filter coupled with zero valent iron*", in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the Degree of Master's in Environmental Science and Engineering of the Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology.



Prof. Karoli N. Njau

Name and signature of supervisor 1

lemar

Dr. Juma Rajabu Selemani

Name and signature of supervisor 2



Dr. Grite Nelson

Name and signature of supervisor 3

Date 14.08.2024

Date 14.08.2024

Date 14.08.2024

AKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am grateful to Almighty GOD for providing me with the power, knowledge, talent, and opportunity to conduct this research and accomplish it successfully. I am grateful to my sponsor and employer, the Ministry of Minerals of the United Republic of Tanzania, for providing me with financial assistance during my studies.

I would like to thank my respected supervisors, Prof. Karoli N. Njau, Dr. Juma Rajabu Selemani and Dr. Grite Nelson, of the School of Materials, Energy, Water and Environmental Sciences (MEWES), The Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology (NM-AIST). They provided me with valuable guidance and critique, and they encouraged me to think critically and grow as a scientist. I'd want to thank my friends and classmates, as well as everyone else whose assistance, compassion, and prayers helped me accomplish my studies.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate my work to my wife Ms. Getruda Nicholaus Kidesheni, my children Daniella Daniel, Daniani Daniel, Dagna Daniel, Danikiel Daniel and Damiani Daniel. They imparted in me a wish to learn and made ransoms so I would have access to Master degree. Also, this is dedicated to my close friends Atugonza Majura, Aziza Konyo, Alpha Mangula, Erick Edward, Petro Karungamye, Jumanne Shimba, JohnBosco Karungamye and Munira Kaoneka who always discussed together and supported each other throughout my years of studies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRAC	CTi
DECLAR	ATIONii
COPYRIC	;HTiii
CERTIFIC	CATIONiv
AKNOWI	LEDGEMENTv
DEDICAT	VIONvi
LIST OF F	IGURESix
LIST OF T	ABLESx
CHAPTE	R ONE
INTRODU	J CTION 1
1.1	General introduction1
1.2	Statement of the Problem
1.3	Justification of the study
1.4	Research Objectives
1.4.1	General Objective
1.4.2	Specific Objectives
1.5	Research Questions
1.6	Significance of the Study
CHAPTE	R TWO
LITERAT	URE REVIEW
2.1	Chemistry and occurrence of arsenic
2.1.1	Physical and Chemical Properties
2.1.2	Environmental Mobility and Redox Chemistry7
2.1.3	Arsenic-Microorganisms Interactions
2.2	Arsenic induced toxicity
2.3	Technologies for arsenic removal
2.4	Arsenic removal using ZVI16
2.5	Design sand filters with ZVI17
CHAPTE	R THREE
MATERIA	ALS AND METHODS

3.1	Zero valent iron materials
3.2	Materials characterization
3.3	Design of column filter
3.4	Chemicals and reagents
3.5	Batch experiments
3.6	Analysis of As in samples
3.7	Data analysis and interpretation
CHAPTE	R FOUR
RESULTS	AND DISCUSSION
4.1	Results
4.1.1	Characteristics of the used materials23
4.1.2	Removal of As24
4.2	Discussion
4.2.1	Effect of contact time on arsenic removal efficiency
4.2.2	Effect of dose of ZVI on arsenic removal efficiency
4.2.3	Effect of type of zero valent iron
CHAPTE	R FIVE
CONCLU	SION AND RECOMMENDATIONS
5.1	Conclusion
5.2	Recommendation
REFEREN	NCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Figure 1: Natural and anthropogenic sources of arsenic (Hare et al., 2018)
Figure 2: Mechanisms of microbial transformations of As in the environment (Lloyd &
Oremland, 2006)
Figure 3: Human exposure to As from food chain (Source: Author)11
Figure 4: Human organs and systems affected by chronic arsenic poisoning. Modified from
(Rahaman et al., 2021)
Figure 5: Schematic of the mechanisms of arsenic removal by zero valent iron (Rashid et al.,
2020)
Figure 6: Forms of ZVI used in experiments (a) Iron wool, (b) Iron filings and (c) Iron nails.
Figure 7: X-MET8000 hand-held analyzer 19
Figure 8: Schematic diagram of the column filters with layers of substrates modified (Ndé-
Tchoupé et al., 2022; Ngai et al., 2006)20
Figure 9. Elemental composition of gravels and sand used in experiments
Figure 10: Elemental composition of iron nails, iron wool and iron filings used in
experiments
Figure 11: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (200mg of ZVI)28
Figure 12: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (300mg of ZVI)
Figure 13: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (400mg of ZVI)29
Figure 14: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (600mg of ZVI)
Figure 15: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (800mg of ZVI)
Figure 16: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 6 h
Figure 17: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 12 h
Figure 18: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 24 h
Figure 19: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 48 h 33
Figure 20: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 72 h

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Physical and Chemical Properties of Arsenic and Selected Inorganic Arsenic
Compounds7
Table 2 : Some of the common arsenic compounds found in speciation analysis
Table 3: Maximum allowable contaminant level (MCL) for total As of different regulatory
authorities10
Table 4 : Advantages and disdvantages of As removal methods (Rahidul, 2023)14
Table 5 : Efficiency of conventional arsenic removal techniques (Duarte et al., 2009).
Table 6: Elemental composition of sand and gravels used in experiments
Table 7: Elemental composition of Iron nail, Iron wool, and Iron filings used in
experiments24
Table 8 : The removal of As using iron wool at different dose and retention time
Table 9 : The removal of As using Iron filings at different dose and retention time
Table 10 : The removal of As using iron nails at different dose and retention time 27

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAS	: Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy
As	: Arsenic
ATSDR	: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry
DNA	: Deoxyribonucleic Acid
MCL	: Maximum Contaminant Level
NM-AIST	: Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology
SD	: Standard deviation
SDG	: Sustainable Development Goals
US EPA	: United States Environmental Protection Agency
WHO	: World Health Organization
XRF	: X-ray Fluorescence
ZVI	: Zero Valent Iron

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

1.1 General introduction

Every human being has the right to safe drinking water at a reasonable cost (Fida et al., 2022). Population increase and climate change have impacted access to safe drinking water, putting public health at risk (Tang et al., 2019). One type of pollutants that pose a significant threat to human being is heavy metals including Arsenic (As) (Richards et al., 2022; Shankar et al., 2014). Due to occupational or domestic exposure, As is considered as one of the hazardous metals of environmental significance and listed as one of the "Top 20 Hazardous Substances" by the US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) (Zawierucha et al., 2022). Due to its toxicity and carcinogenic properties, arsenic contamination is a concern which need proper handling (Ahmad et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2020). The most frequent side effects from prolonged exposure to arsenic are cancer, skin lesions, digestive problems, peripheral neuropathy, diabetes, renal impairment, and cardiovascular disease (Costa, 2019).

The name "arsenic" is derived from the Greek word "arsenikon" ($\check{\alpha}\rho\sigma\varepsilon\nu\kappa\acute{o}\nu$), which means yellow orpiment. Orpiment itself is a yellow arsenic sulfide mineral (As₂S₃), and it was known and used in ancient times as a pigment and for medicinal purposes (Ahmed, 2022; Paul et al., 2023). Its sources include both anthropogenic and natural geochemical activities including mining, the release of industrial waste, and fertilizer use in agriculture (Patel et al., 2023; Selinus et al., 2013). Both organic and inorganic forms of arsenic can be found in nature; inorganic arsenic is often found in natural water systems. Despite the fact that arsenic has multiple oxidation states, including 3, 0, +2, +3, and +5, arsenite (As(III)) and arsenate (As(V)) are the most prevalent oxidation states encountered in water (Zheng et al., 2017). As(V) is found as oxyanions of arsenic acid, whereas As(III) is found as arsenious acid (Zawierucha et al., 2022).

In comparison arsenite is 20-60 times more toxic than arsenate, with toxicity depending on oxidation-reduction states and methylation levels during metabolism (Chen et al., 2018; Vromman et al., 2018). Arsenite is also more mobile than arsenate and thermodynamically more stable in reducing groundwater conditions (Kumari & Jagadevan, 2016; Li et al., 2020). The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends that As levels in drinking water be less than 10mg/L (WHO, 2011). However, even at concentrations below 10 mg/L, As can have significant consequences for human health (Gude et al., 2018). The development of

treatment technologies for the removal of As at the household or small community level is therefore necessary.

As can be removed from aqueous solutions using a wide range of physicochemical techniques (Morgada et al., 2009) includeing coagulation and flocculation, membrane techniques, ion-exchange or chelation, chemical precipitation, and activated carbon adsorption (Fu & Wang, 2011; Qasem et al., 2021). However, these methods require a lot of energy and/or chemicals, which makes the treatment procedures expensive. They are also difficult to operate and maintain, necessitating regular part replacement, expensive aftermarket services, and specialized people who may not be available locally (Annaduzzaman et al., 2021). This makes them unsustainable over time in societies with limited resources.

Filtration is the most reliable and effective method for removing As ions at the household level due to its simplicity in designing, convenience of use, and cheap operating costs (Kim et al., 2022). Different materials have been investigated regarding adsorption of As including rice polish, zeolite, red mud, activated alumina, surface-modified carbon black, iron hydroxides and oxides, open-celled cellulose sponge (Keerio et al., 2021). Systems using sand filters are frequently utilized to treat wastewater on-site and in small communities all over the world. Compared to other natural technologies, it requires less land and doesn't need energy or chemicals (Yettefti et al., 2013). As removal from aqueous solutions using iron, ferric oxide, and iron-based compounds as effective adsorbents has been well-documented (Kim et al., 2022; Smith et al., 2017). The process involves the corrosion of both Fe⁰ and Fe²⁺ to produce Fe³⁺(aq), H₂, some precipitates, and green rusts (Deewan et al., 2022). These corrosion reactions and products are what cause exposed chemical species to undergo reductive transformation and/or be physically removed (Crane & Scott, 2012; Yang et al., 2015).

Over the past decade, zero-valent iron (ZVI) has drawn a lot of interest due to its several positive attributes, including non-toxicity, abundance, affordability, ease of production, and less maintenance on reduction process (Plessl et al., 2022; Simon et al., 2016). ZVI is normally placed between the sand layers in a filter (Bretzler et al., 2020). It may take many different forms, such as composite iron matrix, iron fillings, iron nails, steel wool, sponge iron or cleaned scrap iron (Wenk et al., 2014). Despite the fact that various studies have explored the effectiveness of various forms of ZVI in removing As, there is insufficient information comparing the efficiency of iron wool, iron fillings, and iron nails in removing As under the same physical conditions. Thus, the aim of this research was to compare the

effectiveness of iron filings, iron nails, and iron wool as ZVI for the removal of As from synthetic solution. This research is in line with Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) related to reduction of As from drinking water. These includes SDG 3: Good Health and Well-being, SDG 6: Clean Water and Sanitation and SDG 15: Life on Land.

1.2 Statement of the Problem

The presence of As in drinking water poses a severe health risk to millions of people globally. In Tanzania for instance, high concentrations of As above the WHO guideline (10µg/L) has been reported in Lake Victoria Gold fields (Ijumulana et al., 2018; Irunde et al., 2016). Around 86.53% agricultural soils in Usangu agroecosystem, have As concentration above maximum allowable limit (Mng'ong'o et al., 2021). As contamination in groundwater primarily originates from natural geological sources, exacerbated by human activities such as mining and industrial processes. In an attempt to minimize the level of As contamination, a variety of methods including coagulation/filtration, reverse osmosis, ion exchange, adsorption, and biological treatment have been investigated. While most of these methods are effective on removal of As, their application in poor communities especially in developing countries, is affected by high initial and operational costs, technological feasibility, low local adaptability, skills requirements, energy requirements, maintenance requirements, community acceptance and awareness (Alka et al., 2021; German et al., 2019). ZVI has become an effective remediation tool for As contamination due to its chemical reduction capabilities. This involves converting soluble As species into less toxic precipitates, thereby reducing their mobility and bioavailability in the environment. Various forms of ZVI, including iron fillings, iron nails, and iron wool, have been studied for their efficiency in As removal, with each having unique characteristics and performance under different conditions. This makes it essential to understand the performance of different forms of ZVI under similar environments in order to optimize its application in actual As remediation efforts. Therefore, the aim of this research is to compare the effectiveness of iron wool, iron filings, and iron nails as ZVI for the removal of As from synthetic solution. It is expected that the results of this study will provide significant insights on the use of ZVI for As remediation, especially in resourceconstrained places where accessible and costs-effective technologies are essential. This study intends to provide practical solutions for reducing As pollution in drinking water by comparing the performance of wool, nails, and iron fillings. This will improve public health and environmental sustainability.

1.3 Justification of the study

As-related water contamination has been addressed through various kinds of established and recommended interventions which may be classified broadly into two categories. The first approach is to remove As from groundwater in order to make water with little or no As available. The second approach is to provide access to a sustainable and easily available alternative clean water source. The majority of As removal techniques are expensive to execute complicated, and impractical particularly in developing countries like Tanzania. Over the past 20 years, zero valent iron has been used for groundwater As removal because of its affordability, ease of availability, and strong affinity for As. It is worthwhile to do this research comparing the performance of iron fillings, iron nails, and iron wool as zero valent iron for removal of As from synthetic solution. These materials were chosen as a Fe-source because they are affordable, accessible worldwide, including in Tanzania, and do not require extensive cleaning.

1.4 Research Objectives

1.4.1 General Objective

The general objective of this research is to compare the effectiveness of iron filings, iron nails, and iron wool as ZVI for the removal of As from synthetic solution.

1.4.2 Specific Objectives

- i) To characterize the composition of different forms of ZVI such as iron fillings, iron nails, and iron wool for removal of As from synthetic solution.
- ii) To assess the influence of iron fillings, iron nails, and iron wool as forms of ZVI incorporated in sand filter in the removal of As from synthetic solution.

1.5 Research Questions

- i) What are the characteristics of different forms of ZVI such as iron fillings, iron nails, and iron wool?
- ii) How does different forms of ZVI incorporated in sand filter influence the removal of As from synthetic solution?

1.6 Significance of the Study

This study aims to improve the understanding and application of sustainable methods for removing arsenic from contaminated groundwater, which poses a severe risk to human health. The findings are particularly relevant to Tanzanian communities in the Lake Victoria basin, where over 30% of water sources have arsenic levels exceeding the WHO guideline of $10 \mu g/L$. The contamination is particularly prevalent in regions surrounding the North Mara gold mine and Geita mining areas. The study identifies the most effective form of ZVI for arsenic removal, providing insights into cost-effective and sustainable remediation strategies. This knowledge can inform policy-making, guide community-level interventions, and support efforts to provide safe and clean water to vulnerable populations in Tanzania and beyond.

CHAPTER TWO LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Chemistry and occurrence of arsenic

Arsenic is an interesting element because of its complex behavior and potential negative health effects (Bagherifam et al., 2019). Its mobility and bioavailability in diverse environments are greatly influenced by its existence in a variety of chemical forms as well as its interactions with environmental variables (Kumari et al., 2017). This variation further emphasizes how crucial it is to investigate As from the viewpoints of the ecosystem and human health. As can enter the environment through both natural and anthropogenic sources as summarised in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1: Natural and anthropogenic sources of arsenic (Hare et al., 2018)

2.1.1 Physical and Chemical Properties

As is a distinctive silver-grey crystalline solid with an atomic number of 33 and an atomic weight of 74.9 (Mahamallik & Swain, 2023). It is particularly dense, with a specific gravity of 5.73. Its boiling point is 613 °C, and it has a vapor pressure of 1 mmHg at 372 °C (Fatoki et al., 2013; Fu et al., 2014; Quino-Favero et al., 2021). Under extreme pressure (28 atm), As melts at 817 °C, yet it typically sublimes at 616 °C under normal atmospheric pressure, bypassing the liquid state (Fowler et al., 2015; Zheng et al., 2017). In the absence of oxygen,

As undergoes sublimation to yield a yellow gas; when heated in an oxygen-rich environment, it transforms into As trioxide (As_2O_3) (Hassan & Westerhoff, 2024; Paul et al., 2023). Positioned in Group VA of the Periodic Table, As is recognized as a metalloid, bridging characteristics between metals and nonmetals (Jang et al., 2016; Raju, 2022). Its chemical behavior is influenced by this intermediate nature, allowing it to form a range of compounds with diverse properties (Chellan & Sadler, 2015). These properties have been presented in **Table 1**.

Property	Arsenic	Arsenic acid	Arsenic pentoxide	Arsenic trioxide	
Molecular weight	74.9216	141.944	229.840	197.841	
Color	Silver-gray or tin-white	White	White	White	
Physical state	Solid	Solid	Solid	Solid	
Melting point	817 °C (triple point)	35 °C	Decomposes at ~300 °C	313 °C (claudetite) 274 °C (arsenolite)	
Boiling point	614 °C sublimes	Loses H ₂ O at 160 °C	No data	460 °C	
Density	5.778 g/cm ³ at 25 °C	$\sim 2.2 \text{ g/cm}^3$	4.32 g/cm^3	3.865 g/cm ³ (cubes), 4.15 g/cm ³ (rhombic crystals)	
Solubility in Water	Insoluble	302 g/L at 12.5 °C	2,300 g/L at 20 °C	17 g/L at 16 °C	
Vapor pressure	7.5×10 ⁻³ mmHg at 280 °C	No data	No data	2.47×10^{-4} mmHg at 25 °C	

Table 1: Physical and Chemical Properties of Arsenic and Selected Inorganic ArsenicCompounds (Agency for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry (ATSDR), 2007)

2.1.2 Environmental Mobility and Redox Chemistry

The mobility of As in the environment is governed by pH, redox potential (Eh), and the presence of competing ions. Its behavior is closely linked to redox processes involving iron and sulfur (Al-Abed et al., 2007; Bertin et al., 2022; Demergasso et al., 2007). As exhibits various oxidation states, including -3, 0, +3, and +5 (ALSamman et al., 2023; Kapp, 2018). Some of the common arsenic compounds found in speciation analysis are presented in **Table 2**.

Name	Abbreviation	Chemical formula
Inorganic compounds		
Arsenite (arsenous acid)	As(III)	As(OH) ₃
Arsenate (arsenic acid)	As(V)	AsO(OH) ₃
Organic compounds		
Monomethylarsonous acid	MMAIII	CH ₃ As(OH) ₂
Monomethylarsonic acid	MMAV	CH ₃ AsO(OH) ₂
Dimethylarsinous acid	DMAIII	(CH ₃) ₂ AsOH
Dimethylarsinic acid	DMAV	(CH ₃) ₂ AsO(OH)
Arsenonetaine	AsB	(CH ₃) ₃ As ⁺ CH ₂ COO ⁻
Arsenocholine	AsC	(CH ₃) ₃ As+CH ₂ COO ⁻

Table 2: Some of the common arsenic compounds found in speciation analysis (Mana & Fatt,2017)

In aquatic environments, arsenite (As(III)) and arsenate (As(V)) are indeed the most common forms of As (Rodríguez-Martín et al., 2022). These two oxidation states, As(III) and As(V), play critical roles in the biogeochemical cycling and toxicity of As in natural waters (Izaditame et al., 2024; Muzaffar et al., 2023). Arsenite (As(III)) exists predominantly in reducing environments such as groundwater and wetlands (Stuyfzand & Bonte, 2023). It is highly toxic and more mobile than arsenate, making it a significant concern for human health when present in drinking water (Bhagat et al., 2022; Etesami et al., 2023). In its trivalent form, arsenic tends to form complexes with sulfhydryl groups of proteins, interfering with cellular functions and causing oxidative stress (Sevak & Pushkar, 2024; Virk et al., 2023). On the other hand, arsenate (As(V)) is more prevalent in oxidizing conditions, such as surface waters and aerobic soils (Fathi-Gerdelidani et al., 2022; Mawia et al., 2021). It is less toxic than arsenite but still poses health risks (Fathi-Gerdelidani et al., 2022). Arsenate mimics phosphate structurally, allowing it to be taken up by organisms through phosphate transport mechanisms (Garbinski et al., 2019). This similarity can lead to arsenic accumulation in aquatic organisms, posing risks to ecosystems and human consumption through the food chain (Bridges & Zalups, 2005; Urrialde et al., 2017; W. Zhang et al., 2022).

The interconversion between arsenite and arsenate is influenced by redox conditions in the environment (Deewan et al., 2022; Vromman et al., 2018). Under reducing conditions, arsenate can be reduced to arsenite, increasing its mobility and toxicity (Bhagat et al., 2022). Conversely, under oxidizing conditions, arsenite can be oxidized to arsenate, reducing its mobility but maintaining its potential health risks (Fowler et al., 2015; Pintor et al., 2018;

Rodríguez-Martín et al., 2022). To determine environmental impacts of As and establish effective mitigation strategies, it is essential to understand its speciation and dispersion in aquatic environments.

2.1.3 Arsenic-Microorganisms Interactions

Microorganisms play a crucial role in the biogeochemical cycling of As (Izaditame et al., 2024; Xie et al., 2024). They have developed various mechanisms to cope with high concentrations of As, including sorption, mobilization, precipitation, redox reactions, and methylation (Sevak & Pushkar, 2024; Soares et al., 2024). The microbial resistance to As involves a detoxification system where arsenate (As(V)) is reduced to arsenite (As(III)) by cytoplasmic arsenate reductase and subsequently extruded from the cell via a membrane-bound As(III) efflux pump (ars system) (Crognale et al., 2017; Kumari & Jagadevan, 2016). This microbial activity significantly influences the speciation, mobility, and toxicity of As in natural environments (Ding et al., 2024; Izaditame et al., 2024; Luo et al., 2024). The mechanisms of microbial transformations of As in the environment are shown in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2: Mechanisms of microbial transformations of As in the environment (Lloyd & Oremland, 2006).

2.2 Arsenic induced toxicity

Humans can become exposed to As through inhaling, consuming, or absorbing through their skin (Ramasamy & Lee, 2015). However, exposure to As primarily occurs from drinking water that has been contaminated with the arsenic (Huang et al., 2015). As in drinking water has been identified as a major public health issue in a number of countries throughout the world (Mazumder, 2015). As a result, the WHO considers that As contamination in the drinking water poses the most significant hazard to human health (Quino-Favero et al., 2021). The WHO has set the maximum allowable limit for As in drinking water at 10 µg/L (Muzaffar et al., 2023; WHO, 2011). The maximum contamination level (MCL) is the highest level of a contaminant that is permitted in drinking water based on a cost-benefit analysis and is enforceable. The maximum contaminant level goal (MCLG) is a non-enforceable level at which harmful effects on human health are unknown or not anticipated to occur while yet providing an appropriate margin of safety. On January 22, 2001, the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) published an MCL for arsenic of 10 µg/L and an MCLG of Zero (EPA, 2001). The MCL for As was established at a level where the advantages of reducing lung and bladder cancer were maximized at a cost that was justified by the benefits (Ramasamy & Lee, 2015). The maximum allowable contaminant level (MCL) for total As of different regulatory authorities are presented in Table 3.

 Table 3: Maximum allowable contaminant level (MCL) for total As of different regulatory authorities

Authority/Country	MCL, µg/L	Reference
WHO	10	(WHO, 2011)
Australia	7	(NHMRC, 2011)
US EPA	10	(EPA, 2001)
European Community (EC)	10	(EU, 2020)
Canada	10	(HC, 1984)
Bangladesh, China, Mexico, Taiwan,	50	(Nordstrom, 2002)
Vietnam, etc.		

As can enter the food chain through agricultural practices, water sources, and environmental factors like overexploitation of arsenic-contaminated groundwater and mining activities (Majumder & Banik, 2019; Mitra et al., 2017). Organic arsenic which is the form mostly found in foods is generally considered less toxic than their inorganic counterparts (Guillod-magnin et al., 2018). As in seafood forinstance, mainly occurs as organic As with low toxicity, and it does not pose any risk to human health (Akter et al., 2006; Taylor et al., 2017).

Inorganic As can enter the food chain from sources like groundwater contamination, industrial effluent, and drainage problems, causing wide spread distribution throughout plant and animals (Upadhyay et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021). The bioavailability and health impact of As in food depend on several factors including Chemical Form of As, food Source, cooking and processing methods, individual characteristics (age, nutritional status, and overall health), geographical and environmental factors (Khan et al., 2022; S. Singh et al., 2023). It has been projected that 94 million to 220 million individuals globally may be exposed to unacceptable higher levels of groundwater arsenic (Irshad et al., 2021; Podgorski & Berg, 2020). **Figure 3** shows human exposure to As from food chain



Figure 3: Human exposure to As from food chain (Source: Author)

The toxicity of arsenic is determined by its chemical speciation, with inorganic arsenic being more toxic than organo-arsenicals (Thakur et al., 2021). The toxicity of As compounds causes the production of free radicals, which can induce DNA single-strand breaking. A considerable decrease in antioxidants caused by As exposure causes oxidative stress in various organs (Banu et al., 2018; Ghosh & Sil, 2015). As toxicity, both acute and chronic, can have detrimental consequences in organs and tissues, such as peripheral neuropathy, cardiovascular disorders, pulmonary illnesses, hyperkeratosis, and changes in skin color. It can also affect cognitive and developmental processes (Sanyal et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2021).

In humans, severe acute As toxicity can cause gastrointestinal distress, vomiting, diarrhea, bloody urine, anuria, shock, seizures, coma, and potentially death (Ratnaike, 2003). Chronic As exposure through drinking water has been linked to a number of diseases, including diabetes mellitus, peripheral vascular disease, cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular illness, nervous system disease, and different types of cancer (Huang et al., 2015). Given that the toxicity of As has been linked to its speciation (such as inorganic trivalent/pentavalent forms), more research on As speciation needs to be done than on general As. The major human organs and systems affected by chronic As exposure are shown in **Figure 4**.



Figure 4: Human organs and systems affected by chronic arsenic poisoning. Modified from (Rahaman et al., 2021).

The signs and symptoms of As exposure appear to vary between individuals, demographic groupings, and geographic regions (Folesani et al., 2022; Khosravi-Darani et al., 2022). Therefore, there is no accepted definition of the disease caused by As. This complicates determining the extent to which As is harmful to human health. Moreover, there is no method to distinguish tumors induced by As from those produced by other causes in internal instances of cancer (Rahidul, 2023). As toxicity has no recognized effective medication for treatment, however, drinking water free of arsenic can help those who are affected by As get rid of its symptoms (Evens et al., 2004; Khosravi-Darani et al., 2022; Nurchi et al., 2020). As a result, As should be considered a top priority for toxicological research, including toxicokinetics, toxicodynamics, and mode of toxic action. The legislative bodies need to prioritize this matter and allocate sufficient funding for this kind of research.

2.3 Technologies for arsenic removal

As removal from aqueous solutions has been made possible by a wide range of physicochemical techniques (Nicomel et al., 2015). The selection of an As removal technology for a particular area depends on a number of factors, including the degree of oxidation of As and the pH of the groundwater (Rahidul, 2023). As removal technologies includes precipitation, membrane separation, adsorption, ion exchange, and biotechnology (Chowdhury et al., 2019; Feroze Ahmed, 2001). The advantages and disadvantages of each of these technologies, especially with regard to cost and efficacy, dictate which treatment is used (Rahidul, 2023). These methods require a lot of energy and/or chemicals, which makes the processes of treatment expensive. Additionally, they are difficult to operate and maintain, necessitating regular part replacement, costly after-market services, and specialized people who may not be available locally. As a result, in disadvantaged populations, these technologies are not long-term viable (Annaduzzaman et al., 2021). These methods have been presented in **Table 4**.

Arsenic can be removed by precipitation methods as ferric arsenate, calcium arsenate, or arsenic sulfide. Ferric salts have been shown to be more effective than aluminum salts for precipitation (Mohan & Pittman, 2007). Using chemical precipitation to achieve As concentrations below 10 μ g/L is often challenging. Additionally, removing As(III) during precipitation is notably less effective compared to removing As(V) anions. To address this, pre-oxidation is necessary to convert As(III) to As(V) ions in water (Sarwar et al., 2015; Sawana et al., 2017).

Method	Advantages	Disadvantages
Ion Exchange	Clearly defines the medium and	Expensive medium and
	its capacity. Less susceptible to	operational costs. Requires
	fluctuations in water pH. Utilizes	sophisticated maintenance and
	specific ion resins for targeted ion	operation. Challenges with
	removal.	managing sludge from resin
		regeneration.
Adsorption	Well-established technology with	Adsorption beds have a limited
	commercially available materials.	lifespan and need regular
	High efficiency and simplicity in	replenishment. Generates solid
	operation. Cost-effective with no	waste that may be hazardous.
	additional chemicals or	Maintenance of the adsorbent
	byproducts.	material can be labor-intensive.
Chemical	Simple to handle with common,	Produces toxic sludge that requires
Precipitation	inexpensive chemicals. Relatively	proper disposal. May necessitate
	low initial capital investment.	pre-oxidation processes which can
	Effective for a wide range of	create harmful disinfection
	contaminants.	byproducts. The process can be
		inefficient for certain
		contaminants.
Membrane	No hazardous solid waste is	High maintenance and operational
Technique	generated. Effective at removing	costs. Potential for hazardous
	bacteria and various pollutants.	wastewater. Often requires pre-
	Eliminates the need for additional	treatment of the water to prevent
	chemicals.	fouling and extend membrane life.
Electrocoagulation	Provides an alternative to	Requires a robust system
	chemical precipitation. No	foundation. Not yet widely
	chemicals are required. Cost-	commercially available.
	effective and relatively easy to	Successful implementation
	maintain. Innovative approach	depends on effective design and
	with growing potential.	operational management.
Phytoremediation	Environmentally friendly and	Requires a strong system
	sustainable. No chemicals are	toundation for implementation.
	needed, making it a natural	Not widely available for purchase
	remediation method. Can be	or adoption. The effectiveness can
	aesthetically pleasing and offer	be variable depending on plant
	additional ecological benefits.	species and environmental
		conditions.

Table 4: Advantages and disdvantages of As removal methods (Rahidul, 2023).

Ion exchange technology, which uses anion exchange resins to remove As from water, is considered to be a viable option (Laatikainen et al., 2016). The uncharged As(III) species in water cannot be effectively removed with this method; it is only effective for As(V). In addition, it is typically expensive to design high-tech water filtration systems and ion exchange resin. The process of adsorbent regeneration also generates a sludge disposal issue. As removal from water has been reported more frequently in recent years using membrane

techniques, such as reverse osmosis and nanofiltration (Bahmani et al., 2017).

These methods have several advantages such as high removal efficiency, simplicity of use, and low production of polluting sludge (Li et al., 2017). The initial investment and operating costs are high, and significant pressure is needed to push contaminated water through membranes. Additionally, issues such as concentrate discharge, membrane fouling, and flux reduction are often unavoidable in the membrane process (Kapepula & Luis, 2024; Osman et al., 2024). As and other pollutants can be removed by electro-dialysis, although a significant amount of insoluble coagulants are also deposited on the cathode (Song et al., 2017).

The adsorption process is one of the numerous methods for removing As from water that are now accessible. Due to its low cost, high efficiency, and simplicity of usage, it is seen to be one of the most promising methods (Chowdhury, 2017). Iron-based adsorbents have been considerably researched and demonstrated good efficacy in removing for As compounds from water (Hao et al., 2018). Some commercial adsorbents, such as granular ferric hydroxide (GFH) and ZVI, have been produced on a large scale (Pintor et al., 2018). Despite their demonstrated high efficacy in removing As, the majority of described adsorbents rarely find use in the field due to the interfering ions that are present in the water (Nguyen et al., 2023). It has been determined that phosphate can actively compete with As for adsorption sites, lowering arsenic adsorption capability (Lalley et al., 2016). Organic matter, such as humic and fulvic acid, can potentially have negative effects on the adsorption of As by altering the adsorption equilibrium (Fakour et al., 2015). The removal efficiencies that are often reported are summarized in **Table 5**.

Technology	Chemical reagent	Ideal conditions	% Removal As(III)	% Removal As(V)
Adsorption	Activated carbon or activated alumina	рН 5.5 - 6	30 - 60	> 95
Adsorption	Iron hydroxide	pH near 8	30 - 60	> 95
Coagulation –	Ferric Chloride	рН 6-8	< 30	90 - 94
filtration precipitation				
Coagulation –	Sulphates (Al, Cu,	pH 6–6.5	< 30	80 - 90
filtration precipitation	NH ₃)			
Ion exchange	Anionic resins	$SO_4^{2-} < 20$	< 30	> 95
		mg/L		
Membrane filtration		Presence of	60 - 90	> 95
		dissolved As		

Table 5: Efficiency of conventional arsenic removal techniques (Duarte et al., 2009).

2.4 Arsenic removal using ZVI

ZVI has received a lot of attention for its ability to remove organic and inorganic pollutants from water (Biterna et al., 2010). The use of ZVI for pollutant removal from water is due to its low cost, non-toxicity, rapid response, and great pollutant removal capabilities (Nasseh et al., 2016). Furthermore, iron particles from industrial operations can be employed as ZVI in pollution treatment. Iron nanoparticles have been proven in studies to be effective at removing pollutants such chlorine, heavy metals, organic, aromatic nitro compounds, poly bromine diphenyl ethers, pesticides, nitrates, and pigments (Hu, Ndé-Tchoupé, et al., 2019). ZVI has been thoroughly investigated as a material to remove aqueous As, and the underlying mechanisms have received little attention (Zhao et al., 2021). The removal of aqueous As species using ZVI happens as ZVI materials corrode in water (Kanel et al., 2005; Melitas et al., 2002; Rashid et al., 2020). The removal of As ions from solution is accomplished through adsorption, co-precipitation, and surface complexation with Fe(II) and Fe(III) oxides, hydroxides, and oxyhydroxides generated by ZVI (Liang et al., 2022). The possible mechanisms are presented in **Figure 5**.



Figure 5: Schematic of the mechanisms of arsenic removal by zero valent iron (Rashid et al., 2020).

The oxidation rate at the ZVI-water interface is also known to influence the nature of the oxides and oxyhydroxides generated on the iron surface, as well as the final corrosion products. Lepidocrocite and magnetite are some of these corrosion products, with green rust and bernalite acting as intermediaries (Caloa et al., 2012). The effectiveness of As removal with ZVI is influenced by a variety of variables, including the type of ZVI material used, the

physicochemical properties of the water, the initial concentration of arsenic, and the speciation of arsenic (Biterna et al., 2010).

2.5 Design sand filters with ZVI

Filter systems that use ZVI as a corrosion source for treating water are likely to clog, which negatively impact the effectiveness of the system's ability to remove pollutants (Lawrinenko et al., 2023; Weber et al., 2013). Clogging mechanisms include fouling material adsorption, bio-corrosion, cake formation, and iron volumetric expansion (Naseri et al., 2017). The volumetric expansion of iron is responsible for the majority of filter clogging, particularly in water with a pH greater than 4 (Plessl et al., 2023). Adding a chemically inert substance, such as sand, can extend filter life by increasing void space between particles and giving adequate capacity for corrosive iron expansion (Hu et al., 2020; Hu, Gwenzi, et al., 2019; Noubactep, 2015).

Iron (hydr)oxides are produced in the reactive zone of a ZVI/sand filter for further pollutant removal in the filter (Plessl et al., 2023). A filter that uses 100% ZVI without an inert components is not effective, even though the ZVI material is an essential component of an efficient filter. Because iron corrosion is an expanding process, a filter made entirely of ZVI material would soon lose its porosity and become unsuitable for filtering water (Btatkeu-K et al., 2014; Noubactep, 2018; Tao et al., 2022). The volumetric percentage of ZVI should not exceed 51%, or the filter would lose permeability before all of the ZVI can be exhausted, resulting in material waste (Makota et al., 2017; Noubactep, 2010; Noubactep et al., 2012; Xiao et al., 2022). The selection of the suitable ZVI form with respect to availability, reactivity, performance, cost, and environmental consideration is an important component in As remediation using ZVI (Plessl et al., 2023). The performance of several forms of ZVI has been independently investigated (Weber et al., 2013). Despite their excellent reported performance, comparison of their performance in similar experimental conditions has received little attention (Lawrinenko et al., 2023; Plessl et al., 2023; Weber et al., 2013).

CHAPTER THREE MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Zero valent iron materials

Iron wool, iron fillings, and iron nails (**Figure 6**) were all utilized as forms of zero valent iron. Iron wool and iron nails were obtained at local Arusha construction supplies shop. Iron fillings were gathered from welding shops in Arusha. These materials may be contaminated with grease and other pollutants from the manufacturing process. As a result, they were cleansed in an ultrasonic bath three times with acetone.



Figure 6: Forms of ZVI used in experiments (a) Iron wool, (b) Iron filings and (c) Iron nails

3.2 Materials characterization

The elemental composition of the materials was determined by X-ray fluorescence using a hand-held XRF analyzers (Hitachi X-MET8000 range). XRF spectroscopy is a nondestructive, quick, and precise technology for identifying and detecting material composition. It requires no or very little sample preparation and is suitable with solid, liquid, and powdered materials (de la Guardia & Armenta, 2011). The types of XRF spectrometers can range from small, portable instruments to large, tabletop apparatuses (Ardebili et al., 2018). XRF works by directing an X-ray beam onto the surface of the material. Atoms either scatter these X-rays or absorb them and cause an atom to release one of its inner electrons. As a result, an unstable condition develops, which is resolved by moving electrons from outer to inner shells. This results in the emission of secondary or fluorescence light with distinctive wavelengths that are used to identify the element (Goodman et al., 2015). The picture of the used handheld XRF analyzers is shown in **Figure 7**.



Figure 7: X-MET8000 hand-held analyzer

This instrument was calibrated using the appropriate alloy measuring standards. The detection limit for lighter elements (Mg, Al, Si, K, etc.) ranged between 100 and 1000 parts per million (ppm), whereas the detection limit for heavier elements (Rb, Sr, Zr, Pb, etc.) rises to 5 ppm (Simsek, 2020). Measurements and data collecting were carried out in accordance with the instrument's user manual.

3.3 Design of column filter

Three downscaled laboratory filters made of plastic columns (17 cm internal diameter and 50 cm height) were used to filter water with an initial concentration of 1000 μ g/L As (III). As illustrated in **Figure 8**, the columns were filled with various vertical layers of gravel, zero valent iron material, and sand. Gravel (10 to 30 mm), coarse sand (1 mm to 2 mm) and medium to very fine sand (1/16 to 1 mm) were used. The columns were packed from the bottom to the top 10 cm gravel, 15 cm of a coarse sand, zero valent iron and 10 cm of fine sand. The sand used in experiments was collected from the Nduruma River near the bridge on Mandela Road. Using tap water, the dirt was washed multiple times until the wash water became clear. The gravel utilized was a natural material obtained from local traders in Arusha town. The experimental setup was made at Arusha Technical College's water laboratory. After testing is complete, the device is supposed to be transferred for application in households but with appropriately designed housing.



Figure 8. Schematic diagram of the column filters with layers of substrates modified (Ndé-Tchoupé et al., 2022; Ngai et al., 2006).

The plastic piping was used to create a downward flow of synthetic groundwater to the base of the filter from the storage tank situated at its top. This water is forced upward through the filter media and out of the top delivery pipe by the water in the storage tank. The filter traps and removes the suspended particles and As in three filter layers with gravel, ZVI, fine and coarse sand. A bed of gravel is placed at the bottom of the filter to allow any water that enters to distribute equally across the base.

3.4 Chemicals and reagents

Plasticware used (to avoid metal contaminations) was cleaned in hydrochloric acid (20%, v/v) followed by nitric acid (20%, v/v) and rinsed with distilled water. In this study, analytical grade chemicals were used without further purification. The mass of arsenic trioxide (As₂O₃) required to prepare 5 L of a 1000 mg/L As (III) solution was calculated. The concentration of As (III) was converted from mg/L to moles/L using its molar mass. The mole ratio between As (III) and As₂O₃ was determined, and the required mass of As₂O₃ was found by multiplying the moles needed by its molar mass. The final result showed that 6.6 g of As₂O₃ were needed for the preparation. Subsequently, this stock solution underwent a dilution process to achieve a series of solutions with concentrations of 1000 μ g/L. In an effort

to optimize the conditions for the removal of As, the pH of these diluted solutions was carefully adjusted to a neutral pH of 7. This adjustment was accomplished using 0.1 M sodium hydroxide (NaOH) and 0.1 M hydrochloric acid (HCl) (Azhdarpoor et al., 2015; Biterna et al., 2010; Farrell et al., 2001). These solutions were then used in experiments. All glassware and plastic bottles used in the preparation and storage of the As(III) solutions were meticulously cleansed to ensure the absence of contaminants. This was achieved by soaking the equipment in a 10% nitric acid (HNO₃) solution. Following the acid soak, the glassware and plastic bottles were thoroughly rinsed three times with distilled water to eliminate any residual HNO₃.

3.5 Batch experiments

Batch experiments were designed to compare the performance of different forms of ZVI in removing As (III) from a synthetic solution. In these experiments, the synthetic solution runs up the gravel bed and emerges at the top of the fine sand, where it is collected at the exit tap as shown in **Figure 9**. Various doses of ZVI, specifically 200 g, 300 g, 400 g, 600 g, and 800 g, were tested to determine their impact on As removal. Additionally, the experiments evaluated the influence of different contact times, ranging from 6 to 72 hours. To mimic environmental conditions as closely as possible, the experiments were conducted at room temperature which was ranging from 23 to 26 ^oC. Each experimental condition was replicated three times to ensure the reliability and reproducibility of the results. The average of these triplicate runs was used for further calculations and analysis. This systematic approach allowed for a comprehensive understanding of the optimal ZVI dosage and contact time needed for effective As removal.

3.6 Analysis of As in samples

Samples (100 mL) collected directly from the effluent outlet of the filter column were analyzed for arsenic (III) using WFX-210 Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer (AAS) at Arusha Technical College's water laboratory. All preparatory steps, including acid digestion and dilution, were executed within a controlled environment of a clean laminar flow bench, equipped with a comprehensive exhaust system to minimize contamination risks. These measures are critical to maintaining the integrity of the samples and the accuracy of results. The AAS was calibrated using a linear calibration curve that passed through zero, ensuring precision across the expected range of As concentrations in the samples. The calibration process yielded correlation coefficients above 0.9900, indicating strong linearity and reliability of the instrument's measurements.

3.7 Data analysis and interpretation

MS Excel sheet was utilized for analysis of data sets, ensuring accurate interpretation through graphical representations and numerical summaries, facilitating comprehensive understanding of the data's trends and patterns. The efficiency of arsenic removal was calculated using equation 1

$$R = \frac{(c_{in} - c_{eff})}{c_{in}} \times 100....(1)$$

Where;

R: removal efficiency (%)

 C_{in} : the influent concentration of arsenic in the solution ($\mu g/L$)

 C_{eff} : the effluent concentration of arsenic in the solution ($\mu g/L$)

CHAPTER FOUR RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Results

4.1.1 Characteristics of the the used materials

The elemental composition analysis of sand and gravel focused primarily on oxides of iron (Fe), aluminum (Al), calcium (Ca), and silica (Si), which significantly influence their properties. Elemental analysis revealed distinct compositions among the samples: coarse sand exhibited a predominant silicon content (Si) of 43%, followed by fine sand with 38%, and gravel showing 18%. Beyond these primary elements (Fe, Al, Ca and Si), the remaining composition included significant proportions of feldspar, olivine, and various clay minerals, contributing to the overall mineralogical diversity of the samples as shown in **Table 6**.

	Percentage elemental composition				
	Si	Ca	Al	Fe	Others
Fine sand	38.0	2.1	0.9	0.4	58.6
Gravel	18.0	8.0	6.0	13.0	55.0
Coarse sand	42.0	0.5	0.9	0.3	56.2

 Table 6: Elemental composition of sand and gravels used in experiments

These additional minerals can influence the physical and chemical behavior of the materials, affecting parameters such as porosity, permeability, and chemical reactivity in various environmental and industrial applications. These results have been summarized in **Figure 9**.



Figure 9: Elemental composition of gravels and sand used in experiments
The **Table 7** presents the elemental composition (%) of different forms of ZVI such as iron nail, iron wool, and iron filling used in experiments. It was found that the iron nail contained significant amounts of Fe (60.3%), with notable proportions of Si (2.9%), Ca (1.5%), and Al (0.9%). Other constituents contributed 34.5% to the composition. Iron wool showed higher Fe content (67.3%) compared to the iron nail, with lower proportions of Si (1.7%), Ca (0.3%), and Al (0.4%). Other constituents making up 30.4% of its composition. Iron filling had the highest Fe content (71.7%) among the materials analyzed, with minimal Si (0.3%) and no recorded Ca or Al. Other constituents contributed 28.0% to its composition.

	Percentage elemental composition						
	Si	Ca	Al	Fe	Others		
Iron nail	2.9	1.5	0.9	60.3	34.5		
Iron wool	1.7	0.3	0.4	67.3	30.4		
Iron filing	0.3	-	-	71.7	28.0		

Table 7: Elemental composition of Iron nail, Iron wool, and Iron filings used in experiments

These results have been summarized in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Elemental composition of iron nails, iron wool and iron filings used in experiments

4.1.2 Removal of As

The influence of dose and retention time on the performance of iron wool, iron filings and iron nails on removal of Arsenic was investigated. The initial concentration As (C_{in}) was set to be 1000 µg/L. **Tables 8**, summarizes the effluent arsenic concentration (C_{eff}) and the removal efficiencies (% Removal) in all the columns.

Dose of ZVI (g)	Time (h)	Ceff	Ceff	Ceff	Ceff	SD	9/0
		Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 3	Average		Removal
	(11)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg, 1)	Removar
200	6	137.50	150.80	152.55	146.95	14.47	85.3
200	12	72.80	72.10	72.72	72.54	4.09	92.7
200	24	42.70	45.10	46.12	44.64	3.13	95.5
200	48	24.60	23.50	32.84	26.98	5.96	97.3
200	72	25.30	26.00	26.79	26.03	8.34	97.4
300	6	120.10	118.00	119.05	119.05	6.99	88.1
300	12	62.90	59.90	61.34	61.38	1.52	93.9
300	24	44.80	40.70	42.81	42.77	4.70	95.7
300	48	26.50	25.70	23.13	25.11	4.16	97.5
300	72	17.30	18.30	14.62	16.74	2.50	98.3
400	6	111.00	103.50	109.17	107.89	4.72	89.2
400	12	55.30	58.20	65.03	59.51	5.57	94.0
400	24	33.48	33.48	33.48	33.48	3.01	96.7
400	48	16.20	15.50	15.76	15.82	1.35	98.4
400	72	8.30	7.10	4.10	6.50	2.31	99.4
600	6	101.30	99.00	117.76	106.02	8.34	89.4
600	12	60.60	56.20	56.21	57.67	10.07	94.2
600	24	27.50	24.60	31.60	27.90	4.61	97.2
600	48	9.90	11.40	12.18	11.16	1.33	98.9
600	72	6.30	3.90	5.94	5.38	1.53	99.5
800	6	75.20	70.30	69.36	71.62	3.68	92.8
800	12	44.90	49.40	50.75	48.35	4.02	95.2
800	24	15.50	15.20	19.52	16.74	2.09	98.3
800	48	6.60	8.20	7.55	7.45	1.11	99.3
800	72	5.10	4.40	4.48	4.66	0.70	99.5

Table 8: The removal of As using iron wool at different dose and retention time

Dose of ZVI (g)	Time (h)	C _{eff} Trial 1 (µg/L)	Ceff Trial 2 (µg/L)	C _{eff} Trial 3 (µg/L)	Ceff Average (µg/L)	SD (µg/L)	% Removal
200	6	182.40	172.80	163.71	172.97	9.80	82.7
200	12	127.10	128.60	118.94	124.88	3.97	87.5
200	24	82.60	79.90	78.94	80.48	2.52	92.0
200	48	38.20	37.20	35.57	36.99	3.29	96.3
200	72	22.50	23.30	23.56	23.12	1.27	97.7
300	6	142.20	141.90	146.04	143.38	1.99	85.7
300	12	98.70	99.60	104.16	100.82	2.50	89.9
300	24	67.00	68.40	61.64	65.68	2.84	93.4
300	48	29.40	31.60	30.59	30.53	1.80	96.9
300	72	14.30	18.60	17.05	16.65	2.89	98.3
400	6	116.80	112.20	115.07	114.69	2.67	88.5
400	12	76.30	74.40	74.09	74.93	1.44	92.5
400	24	59.20	57.80	55.08	57.36	2.06	94.3
400	48	30.30	25.10	27.85	27.75	3.40	97.2
400	72	14.70	12.80	14.14	13.88	1.62	98.6
600	6	85.50	84.80	85.03	85.11	0.83	91.5
600	12	50.80	55.20	52.19	52.73	3.58	94.7
600	24	29.80	30.70	28.33	29.61	1.36	97.0
600	48	19.20	20.30	18.79	19.43	1.78	98.1
600	72	13.90	13.40	11.58	12.96	2.02	98.7
800	6	65.90	64.10	67.04	65.68	1.97	93.4
800	12	36.50	37.80	39.49	37.93	1.68	96.2
800	24	29.10	30.10	29.63	29.61	0.51	97.0
800	48	18.50	17.00	17.21	17.57	1.03	98.2
800	72	3.30	3.90	3.87	3.69	0.40	99.6

Table 9: The removal of As using Iron filings at different dose and retention time

Dose of ZVI (g)	Time (h)	Ceff	Ceff	Ceff	Ceff	SD (µg/L)	%
		Trial 1 (ug/L)	Trial 2 (ug/L)	Trial 3 (ug/L)	Average (ug/L)		Removal
200	6	160.40	157.60	158.40	158.80	4.16	84.1
200	12	136.89	135.90	134.40	135.73	2.16	86.4
200	24	97.77	92.80	94.70	95.09	3.42	90.5
200	48	69.86	62.00	62.00	64.62	4.31	93.5
200	72	56.04	57.80	63.40	59.08	4.54	94.1
300	6	140.44	143.00	143.10	142.18	1.93	85.8
300	12	133.58	131.00	134.30	132.96	2.40	86.7
300	24	74.37	74.80	75.20	74.79	0.71	92.5
300	48	54.42	52.20	54.00	53.54	1.48	94.6
300	72	50.15	50.30	46.40	48.95	2.84	95.1
400	6	116.01	112.80	111.90	113.57	3.04	88.6
400	12	108.92	107.80	110.10	108.94	4.53	89.1
400	24	65.16	63.70	65.00	64.62	0.95	93.5
400	48	47.79	55.90	54.20	52.63	3.32	94.7
400	72	44.97	47.40	48.90	47.09	1.85	95.3
600	6	110.33	111.90	112.90	111.71	6.31	88.8
600	12	91.06	93.90	92.00	92.32	2.39	90.8
600	24	61.42	59.70	61.70	60.94	2.45	93.9
600	48	29.68	29.40	29.60	29.56	1.92	97.0
600	72	27.37	27.30	25.70	26.79	1.34	97.3
800	6	62.23	64.90	64.00	63.71	2.55	93.6
800	12	58.91	59.70	55.90	58.17	2.32	94.2
800	24	47.17	47.30	46.80	47.09	1.87	95.3
800	48	25.77	28.00	26.60	26.79	1.44	97.3
800	72	26.16	22.50	23.40	24.02	1.58	97.6

 Table 10: The removal of As using iron nails at different dose and retention time

4.1.2.1 Effect of contact time on As removal efficiency

The contact time between the adsorbate and adsorbent is a crucial factor influencing the efficiency of the adsorption process. **Figures 11, 12, 13, 14** and **15** illustrate the timedependent removal of As using varying fixed doses of ZVI. The results clearly indicate that the rate of As removal increases consistently with longer contact times. Initially, there is a rapid removal phase due to the abundance of available adsorption sites on the ZVI. As contact time progresses, the rate of removal slows down, approaching a plateau, indicating that the adsorption sites are becoming saturated. This trend highlights the importance of optimizing contact time to maximize the removal efficiency of As. Longer contact times allow for more thorough interaction between arsenic and ZVI, leading to higher removal rates. However, it is essential to balance this with practical considerations such as operational efficiency and cost. The findings underscore the significance of contact time in the design and optimization of adsorption systems for effective As removal using ZVI.



Figure 11: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (200mg of ZVI)



Figure 12: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (300mg of ZVI)



Figure 13: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (400mg of ZVI)



Figure 14: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (600mg of ZVI)



Figure 15: Effect of contact time on removal efficiency of As (800mg of ZVI)

4.1.2.2 Effect of ZVI dose on arsenic removal efficiency

The effectiveness of As removal is notably influenced by the dosage of ZVI used as an adsorbent. Optimizing this dosage is essential for developing cost-effective methods for reducing As concentrations in water. To evaluate this, the removal efficiency of arsenic was assessed using a 1000 μ g/L As (III) solution across varying ZVI doses. The results consistently showed the increase in ZVI dosage and the enhancement of As removal efficiency. Specifically, the study examined the effect of ZVI dose on As removal at different fixed contact times such as 6h, 12h, 24h, 48h and 72h. As depicted in **Figures 16, 17, 18, 19** and **20**, As removal efficiency improved with higher ZVI doses for both contact times. The data indicated that longer contact times further augmented the removal efficiency, suggesting that both the amount of adsorbent and the duration of exposure are critical factors in optimizing the process. These findings underscore the importance of determining the optimal ZVI dosage to achieve effective and economical As remediation in practical applications.



Figure 16: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 6 h



Figure 17: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 12 h



Figure 18: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 24 h



Figure 19: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 48 h



Figure 20: Effect of adsorbent dose on removal of As in 72 h

4.2 Discussion

4.2.1 Effect of contact time on arsenic removal efficiency

The use of ZVI for the remediation of As-contaminated water has gained significant attention due to its effectiveness and cost-efficiency (Fu et al., 2014). The contact time between the adsorbent and the contaminants has a major impact on the efficiency of use of ZVI to remove As (Casentini et al., 2016). Numerous studies have shown that increasing the contact time significantly improves the efficiency of As removal (Carneiro et al., 2022; Khanzada et al., 2023). The results from this study shows that the removal efficiency of As using ZVI increases significantly during the initial contact period, particularly within the first 48 h. This rapid phase can be attributed to the abundance of reactive sites on the ZVI surface (Guo et al., 2016; Morgada et al., 2009; Ullah et al., 2020). When ZVI is added to an aqueous solution, it oxidizes and corrodes (Kowalski & Søgaard, 2014). This produces a range of reactive sites that are very affinities for As species, including iron hydroxides and oxides (Guo et al., 2016; Manning et al., 2002). The fast formation of these reactive sites promotes rapid adsorption of As, which results in a significant decrease in As concentration during the initial phases of interaction (Farooqi et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2018).

Various mechanisms, including adsorption, co-precipitation, and redox reactions, are involved in adsorption of As onto ZVI (S. Wang et al., 2017). Initially, As in its predominant forms, As (V) and As (III), adsorbs onto the surface of ZVI (Xi et al., 2019; Yadav et al., 2016). ZVI undergoes oxidation to ferrous iron (Fe^{2+}) , which subsequently forms iron hydroxides (Fe(OH)₂) and ferric hydroxides (Fe(OH)₃) upon further oxidation (Carabante Martinez, 2012; Ramos et al., 2009; Refait et al., 2003; Stefánsson, 2007). These iron hydroxides serve as adsorbents, binding As through complexation and electrostatic interactions (Bang & Meng, 2004; Siddiqui & Chaudhry, 2017). Furthermore, ZVI can reduce As(V) to As(III), which is then immobilized on the iron oxides (Formentini et al., 2024; F. Sun et al., 2011).

After the first 48 h, the rate of arsenic removal decreases, but steadily increases. The reason for this prolonged removal phase might be attributed to the gradual development of corrosion products on the ZVI surface, which consistently supply fresh adsorption sites (Caloa et al., 2012; Singh et al., 2021). The process of corrosion causes porous structures to form on the iron surface, boosting the material's surface area and adsorption capacity (Valencia Ramos, 2011). Furthermore, the formation of secondary iron minerals as goethite (FeO(OH)) and

magnetite (Fe₃O₄) increases the removal efficiency by providing more arsenic species with adsorption sites (Wang et al., 2022).

Prolonged contact time increases the interaction between arsenic and the ZVI surface, which in turn promotes the diffusion of As ions into the corrosion products' porous matrix (Manning et al., 2002; Meng et al., 2024; Ramos et al., 2009; F. Sun et al., 2011). This longer contact time increases the possibility that As will be trapped in the iron oxides, which improves removal efficiency overall (Meng et al., 2024; Yu et al., 2015). Furthermore, the dynamic character of the corrosion process guarantees a steady supply of reactive sites, preserving ZVI's adsorption capability for a prolonged period of time (Lawrinenko et al., 2023; Rangsivek & Jekel, 2005; Siciliano & Limonti, 2018). In order to effectively design water treatment systems utilizing ZVI, it is imperative to comprehend the impact of contact time on the effectiveness of As removal.

4.2.2 Effect of dose of ZVI on arsenic removal efficiency

The dose of ZVI has a crucial impact on the effectiveness of As removal from waster (Bang et al., 2005; Lien & Wilkin, 2005; Qiao et al., 2021). The efficiency of removing As increases with increasing ZVI dose, and this enhancement is caused by a number of inter linked variables (Feroze Ahmed, 2001; Plessl et al., 2023). One of the primary factors for increased As removal with increasing ZVI dose is the proportional increase in the number of surface-active sites available for adsorption (Kheskwani & Ahammed, 2023; Liao et al., 2021). The adsorption process is essential to efficiently remove As from contaminated water (Cheng et al., 2021; Zhu et al., 2009). Higher ZVI dosages increase the surface area accessible for As to attach themselves to, improving the removal efficiency (Pintor et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2022; Zhu et al., 2020). Because of the larger surface area, there are more active sites for As to be absorbed, which improves the efficiency of cleansing up the contaminated water (Kheskwani & Ahammed, 2023; Zhu et al., 2023; Zhu et al., 2009).

The oxidation and reduction activities that are essential for the removal of As are also increases in the presence of more ZVI particles in the system (Kheskwani & Ahammed, 2023; Ramos et al., 2009). ZVI functions as a potent reducing agent, capable of transforming As from its highly mobile and deadly form, As (V), to a less mobile and harmful form, As (III) (Caloa et al., 2012; Kheskwani & Ahammed, 2023). Because As (III) is more readily adsorbed onto ZVI particles, this transition is essential (Formentini et al., 2024). The overall capacity for these redox processes increases with increasing ZVI dose, which increases the rate of As removal (Pezeshki et al., 2023; Plessl et al., 2023).

The presence of free electrons (e-) is a noteworthy additional factor that enhances removal efficiency with increasing ZVI dose (Lawrinenko et al., 2023; Rashadul & Chowdhury, 2015). During redox processes, ZVI, a metallic iron in its zero oxidation state, quickly contributes electrons (Guo et al., 2016). The reduction of arsenic (V) to arsenic (III) and the entire adsorption process are facilitated by the presence of free electrons, which improves the As removal efficiency (Lawrinenko et al., 2023; Wang et al., 2022).

The adsorption kinetics also play a crucial role in the efficiency of As removal (Kanel et al., 2005; Zhu et al., 2009). As can adsorb more readily at vacant sites when ZVI dose is increased (Kapepula & Luis, 2024; Zhu et al., 2020). This results in an increased initial adsorption rate, which might be crucial in situations when quick removal of As is required (Rashadul & Chowdhury, 2015). The presence of a large number of vacant sites guarantees that As molecules come into contact with these sites more often, improving the removal efficiency overall (Kapepula & Luis, 2024; Khanzada et al., 2023).

From a practical and economical point of view, it is essential to optimize the dosage of ZVI (Ma et al., 2014; Zhu et al., 2009). While increasing the dosage increases the efficiency of As removal, it is important to take into account the possibility for reduced earnings and the associated costs (Hao et al., 2018). An excessive ZVI dose could lead to operational constraints and increased costs without commensurate increases in removal efficiency (Rahidul Hassan, 2023). Although these variables highlight the advantages of larger ZVI doses, it is essential to take into account the practical and economic implications in order to achieve the best possible balance for efficient and sustainable As removal. The advantages of a larger ZVI dose must therefore be balanced with the related costs and practical limitations.

4.2.3 Effect of type of zero valent iron

The type and properties of the ZVI employed determine its efficacy in eliminating As from water (Kheskwani & Ahammed, 2023; Liang et al., 2022; Lien & Wilkin, 2005). In this study three forms of ZVI such as iron wool, iron filings, and iron nails were compared for removal of As from synthetic solution in a sand filter. The results of this study indicate that iron wool generally performs better than iron filings and iron nails at removing As. Different iron samples from various origins typically behave differently when it comes to removing As (Lackovic et al., 2000). It is generally considered that the intrinsic properties of iron, such as surface area, impurities, and oxide film coating, are factor which contributes to variations in zero valent iron performance (Sun et al., 2016).

A filter material's specific surface area is a crucial factor since it affects the number of adsorption sites and how accessible contaminants are to the adsorbent. In comparison to iron wool or iron nails, iron filings have a larger surface area. Increased surface area of the materials indicates more iron particles are available for corrosion, and more corrosion products are available for As sorption (Bretzler et al., 2020). According to previous studies, as the surface area of iron increases, the removal rate of As increases (Gillham, 1994; Liang et al., 2022). The smaller the iron particle size, the more its reactivity with As, and hence the higher the removal rate. Thus, the particle size has a significant role in the adsorption and interaction with contaminants (Liang et al., 2022; Wenk et al., 2014).

However, some other studies suggest that the removal of As is not only dependent upon surface area but also takes into account the composition, surface characteristics, mechanical abrasion, and kind of oxide coating being generated (Sista et al., 2021). This supports what was observed in this study where the performance of iron wool and iron filings could not be defined based on surface area only. In addition to the parameters mentioned above, environmental factors like temperature and pH may also have an impact on the removal of arsenic. For instance, it has been proposed that 40 ^oC is the optimal temperature for H/Fe adsorption (Wu et al., 2021). Regarding pH, some studies suggests a pH of 7 as optimal for removing As (Azhdarpoor et al., 2015; Biterna et al., 2010; Farrell et al., 2001).

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Conclusion

In this study, the performance of three forms of ZVI, such as iron wool, iron fillings, and iron nails, were compared in terms of removing As from synthetic aqueous solution. The results showed that despite of the good performance of all forms of ZVI, iron wool performed better in removing As than iron filings and iron nails. This observation shows the potential of ZVI incorporation in filters for remediation of As contaminated groundwater. Furthermore, it was observed that. Increasing the ZVI dose increased the adsorption capacity the removal efficiency of As. The early adsorption response was quick and was observed in all columns, but later reaction involved slow absorption, producing a clear two-phase adsorption characteristic. The findings show that As can effectively be removed from water in the first 48h. These findings demonstrate that locally available materials can be used as ZVI for As remediation in As contaminated groundwater. Because all of the materials employed demonstrated features such as high absorption capacity, effective removal efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and availability, the use of materials can be considered in application for removal of As from aqueous solution.

5.2 **Recommendation**

Based on the results of this study, the following recommendations are presented. It is recommended to conduct long-term studies to evaluate the sustained performance of iron wool, iron filings, and iron nails in real-world conditions. This includes assessing the impact of varying water chemistry and flow rates on the adsorption efficiency. Studies should implement pilot-scale testing of sand filters containing ZVI in areas affected by As contamination. This will help in validating the laboratory findings and determining the practical feasibility and scalability of the remediation method. Future studies should explore the development and use of composite materials that combine ZVI with other adsorbents or catalysts to enhance the removal efficiency of As. This could lead to the creation of more effective and robust remediation solutions. In addition, future study should perform a detailed cost-benefit analysis to compare the economic feasibility of using different forms of ZVI for As remediation.

REFERENCES

- Agency for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry (ATSDR). (2007). Toxicological Profile for Arsenic U.S. Department of Health and Humans Services, Public Health Humans Services, Centers for Diseases Control. August.
- Ahmad, A., Cornelissen, E., van de Wetering, S., van Dijk, T., van Genuchten, C.,
 Bundschuh, J., van der Wal, A., & Bhattacharya, P. (2018). Arsenite removal in
 groundwater treatment plants by sequential Permanganate—Ferric treatment. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, 26, 221–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2018.10.014
- Ahmed, T. (2022). Hazardous Environmental Micro-Pollutants, Health Impacts and Allied Treatment Technologies. In *Hazardous Environmental Micro-Pollutants, Health Impacts and Allied Treatment Technologies* (Issue July). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96523-5
- Akter, K. F., Owens, G., Davey, D. E., & Naidu, R. (2006). Arsenic speciation and toxicity in biological systems. In *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* (Vol. 184, Issue February). https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-27565-7_3
- Al-Abed, S. R., Jegadeesan, G., Purandare, J., & Allen, D. (2007). Arsenic release from iron rich mineral processing waste: Influence of pH and redox potential. *Chemosphere*, 66(4), 775–782. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.07.045
- Alka, S., Ibrahim, N., Jibrin, M., Vo, D. N., & Abd, F. (2021). Arsenic removal technologies and future trends : A mini review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123805
- ALSamman, M. T., Sotelo, S., Sánchez, J., & Rivas, B. L. (2023). Arsenic oxidation and its subsequent removal from water: An overview. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 309(November 2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2022.123055
- Annaduzzaman, M., Rietveld, L. C., Hoque, B. A., Bari, M. N., & van Halem, D. (2021). Arsenic removal from iron-containing groundwater by delayed aeration in dual-media sand filters. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124823
- Ardebili, H., Zhang, J., & Pecht, M. G. (2018). Defect and failure analysis techniques for encapsulated microelectronics. In *Encapsulation Technologies for Electronic Applications*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811978-5.00008-0
- Ayub, A., Srithilat, K., Fatima, I., Panduro-Tenazoa, N. M., Ahmed, I., Akhtar, M. U., Shabbir, W., Ahmad, K., & Muhammad, A. (2022). Arsenic in drinking water: overview of removal strategies and role of chitosan biosorbent for its remediation. In *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* (Vol. 29, Issue 43). Springer Berlin

Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-21988-z

- Azhdarpoor, A., Nikmanesh, R., & Samaei, M. R. (2015). Removal of arsenic from aqueous solutions using waste iron columns inoculated with iron bacteria. *Environmental Technology (United Kingdom)*, 36(20), 2525–2531. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2015.1025104
- Bagherifam, S., Brown, T. C., Fellows, C. M., & Naidu, R. (2019). Bioavailability of Arsenic and Antimony in Terrestrial Ecosystems: A Review. *Pedosphere*, 29(6), 681–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1002-0160(19)60843-X
- Bahmani, P., Maleki, A., Daraei, H., Khamforoush, M., Rezaee, R., Gharibi, F., Tkachev, A.
 G., Burakov, A. E., Agarwal, S., & Gupta, V. K. (2017). High-flux ultrafiltration membrane based on electrospun polyacrylonitrile nanofibrous scaffolds for arsenate removal from aqueous solutions. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 506, 564–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2017.07.086
- Bang, S., Korfiatis, G. P., & Meng, X. (2005). Removal of arsenic from water by zero-valent iron. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 121(1–3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2005.01.030
- Bang, S., & Meng, X. (2004). Research Papers : a Review of Arsenic Interactions With Anions and Iron Hydroxides. *Environmental Engineering Research*, 9(4), 184–192. https://doi.org/10.4491/eer.2004.9.4.184
- Banu, S. K., Stanley, J. A., Arosh, J. A., & Aruldhas, M. M. (2018). Metals in female reproduction. In *Encyclopedia of Reproduction* (Second Edi, Vol. 2, Issue i). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801238-3.64411-2
- Bertin, P. N., Crognale, S., Plewniak, F., Battaglia-Brunet, F., Rossetti, S., & Mench, M. (2022). Water and soil contaminated by arsenic: the use of microorganisms and plants in bioremediation. In *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* (Vol. 29, Issue 7, pp. 9462–9489). Springer Science and Business Media Deutschland GmbH. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-17817-4
- Bhagat, N., Bharti, U., Nanda, R., & Sharma, R. (2022). Background level, occurrence, speciation, bioavailability, uptake detoxification mechanisms and management of Mnpolluted soil. In *Appraisal of Metal(loids) in the Ecosystem*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-85621-8.00011-X
- Biterna, M., Antonoglou, L., Lazou, E., & Voutsa, D. (2010). Arsenite removal from waters by zero valent iron: Batch and column tests. *Chemosphere*, 78(1), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.10.007
- Bretzler, A., Nikiema, J., Lalanne, F., Hoffmann, L., Biswakarma, J., Siebenaller, L., Demange, D., Schirmer, M., & Hug, S. J. (2020). Arsenic removal with zero-valent iron

filters in Burkina Faso: Field and laboratory insights. *Science of the Total Environment*, 737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139466

- Bridges, C. C., & Zalups, R. K. (2005). Molecular and ionic mimicry and the transport of toxic metals. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 204(3), 274–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2004.09.007
- Btatkeu-K, B. D., Olvera-Vargas, H., Tchatchueng, J. B., Noubactep, C., & Caré, S. (2014). Determining the optimum Fe0 ratio for sustainable granular Fe0/sand water filters. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 247, 265–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2014.03.008
- Caloa, J. M., Madhavan, L., Kirchnera, J., & Bain, E. J. (2012). Arsenic removal via ZVI in a hybrid spouted vessel/fixed bed filter system. *Chemical Engineering Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2012.02.063.Arsenic
- Carabante Martinez, I. (2012). Arsenic (V) adsorption on iron oxide implications for soil remedeation and water purification (Issue V).
- Carneiro, M. A., Pintor, A. M. A., Boaventura, R. A. R., & Botelho, C. M. S. (2022). Efficient removal of arsenic from aqueous solution by continuous adsorption onto ironcoated cork granulates. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 432(March). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.128657
- Casentini, B., Falcione, F. T., Amalfitano, S., Fazi, S., & Rossetti, S. (2016). Arsenic removal by discontinuous ZVI two steps system for drinking water production at household scale. *Water Research*, *106*, 135–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.09.057
- Chellan, P., & Sadler, P. J. (2015). The elements of life and medicines. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 373(2037). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2014.0182
- Chen, J., Wang, J., Zhang, G., Wu, Q., & Wang, D. (2018). Facile fabrication of nanostructured cerium-manganese binary oxide for enhanced arsenite removal from water. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 334(September 2017), 1518–1526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.11.062
- Cheng, S., Liu, H., Anang, E., Li, C., & Fan, X. (2021). Enhanced As(III) sequestration using nanoscale zerovalent iron modified by combination of loading and sulfidation: Characterizations, performance, kinetics and mechanism. *Water Science and Technology*, 83(12). https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2021.184
- Chowdhury, R. (2017). Using adsorption and sulphide precipitation as the principal removal mechanisms of arsenic from a constructed wetland–a critical review. *Chemistry and Ecology*, *33*(6), 560–571. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757540.2017.1328504

Chowdhury, S., Chowdhury, I. R., Kabir, F., Mazumder, M. A. J., Zahir, M. H., &

Alhooshani, K. (2019). Alginate-based biotechnology: A review on the arsenic removal technologies and future possibilities. *Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology - AQUA*, 68(6). https://doi.org/10.2166/aqua.2019.005

- Costa, M. (2019). Review of arsenic toxicity, speciation and polyadenylation of canonical histones. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 375(May), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2019.05.006
- Crane, R. A., & Scott, T. B. (2012). Nanoscale zero-valent iron: Future prospects for an emerging water treatment technology. In *Journal of Hazardous Materials* (Vols. 211– 212, pp. 112–125). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.11.073
- Crognale, S., Zecchin, S., Amalfitano, S., Fazi, S., Casentini, B., Corsini, A., Cavalca, L., & Rossetti, S. (2017). Phylogenetic structure and metabolic properties of microbial communities in Arsenic-rich waters of geothermal origin. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(DEC). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02468
- de la Guardia, M., & Armenta, S. (2011). Multianalyte determination versus one-at-a-time methodologies. *Comprehensive Analytical Chemistry*, *57*(11), 121–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53709-6.00006-9
- Deewan, R., Yuk-Shing Yan, D., Khamdahsag, P., & Tanboonchuy, V. (2022). *Remediation* of arsenic-contaminated water by green zero-valent iron nanoparticles. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2023739/v1
- Demergasso, C. S., Guillermo, C. D., Lorena, E. G., Mur, J. J. P., & Pedrós-Alió, C. (2007). Microbial precipitation of arsenic sulfides in andean salt flats. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 24(2), 111–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490450701266605
- Ding, Y., Li, Y., You, T., Liu, S., Wang, S., Zeng, X., & Jia, Y. (2024). Effects of denitrification on speciation and redistribution of arsenic in estuarine sediments. *Water Research*, 258(May), 121766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2024.121766
- Duarte, A. A. L. S., Cardoso, S. J. A., & Alçada, A. J. (2009). Emerging and innovative techniques for arsenic removal applied to a small water supply system. *Sustainability*, *1*(4), 1288–1304. https://doi.org/10.3390/su1041288
- EPA. (2001). National Primary Drinking Water Regulations: Arsenic and Clarifications to Compliance and New Source Contaminants Monitoring.
- Etesami, H., Jeong, B. R., & Raheb, A. (2023). Arsenic (As) resistant bacteria with multiple plant growth-promoting traits: Potential to alleviate As toxicity and accumulation in rice. *Microbiological Research*, 272(April), 127391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2023.127391
- EU. (2020). Directive (EU) 2020/2184 of the European Parliment and of the Council of 16

December 2020 on the quality of water intended for human consumption. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 2019(March 2019), 1–62.

- Evens, A. M., Tallman, M. S., & Gartenhaus, R. B. (2004). The potential of arsenic trioxide in the treatment of malignant disease: Past, present, and future. *Leukemia Research*, 28(9), 891–900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2004.01.011
- Fakour, H., Pan, Y. F., & Lin, T. F. (2015). Effect of humic acid on arsenic adsorption and pore blockage on iron-based adsorbent. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 226(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-014-2224-2
- Farooqi, Z. U. R., Qadeer, A., Hussain, M. M., Zeeshan, N., & Ilic, P. (2021). Characterization and physicochemical properties of nanomaterials. In *Nanomaterials: Synthesis, Characterization, Hazards and Safety*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-823823-3.00005-7
- Farrell, J., Wang, J. P., O'Day, P., & Conklin, M. (2001). Electrochemical and spectroscopic study of arsenate removal from water using zero-valent iron media. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 35(10), 2026–2032. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0016710
- Fathi-Gerdelidani, A., Towfighi, H., & Shahbazi, K. (2022). Kinetic studies on arsenic release from geogenically enriched soils under oxidized and reduced conditions. *Journal* of Geochemical Exploration, 242(September), 107083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gexplo.2022.107083
- Fatoki, O. S., Akinsoji, O. S., Ximba, B. J., Olujimi, O., & Ayanda, O. S. (2013). Arsenic contamination: Africa the missing Gap. Asian Journal of Chemistry, 25(16), 9263–9268. https://doi.org/10.14233/ajchem.2013.15360
- Feroze Ahmed, M. (2001). An Overview of Arsenic Removal Technologies in Bangladesh and India. In *Technologies for Arsenic Removal from Drinking Water*.
- Fida, M., Li, P., Wang, Y., Alam, S. M. K., & Nsabimana, A. (2022). Water Contamination and Human Health Risks in Pakistan: A Review. In *Exposure and Health*. Springer Science and Business Media B.V. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12403-022-00512-1
- Folesani, G., Galetti, M., Ranzieri, S., Petronini, P. G., La Monica, S., Corradi, M., & Cavallo, D. (2022). Interaction between Occupational and Non-Occupational Arsenic Exposure and Tobacco Smoke on Lung Cancerogenesis: A Systematic Review Giuseppina. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(7), 787–800. https://doi.org/10.1080/17476348.2022.2108795
- Formentini, T. A., Cornelis, G., Gustafsson, J. P., Leicht, K., Tiberg, C., Planer-Friedrich, B., Durant, N., Fan, D., & Kleja, D. B. (2024). Immobilizing arsenic in contaminated anoxic aquifer sediment using sulfidated and uncoated zero-valent iron (ZVI). *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 462(August 2023), 132743.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2023.132743

- Fowler, B. A., Chou, C. H. S. J., Jones, R. L., Sullivan, D. W., & Chen, C. J. (2015). Arsenic. In *Handbook on the Toxicology of Metals: Fourth Edition* (Fourth Edi, Vol. 1). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59453-2.00028-7
- Fu, F., Dionysiou, D. D., & Liu, H. (2014). The use of zero-valent iron for groundwater remediation and wastewater treatment: A review. In *Journal of Hazardous Materials* (Vol. 267, pp. 194–205). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.12.062
- Fu, F., & Wang, Q. (2011). Removal of heavy metal ions from wastewaters: A review. Journal of Environmental Management, 92(3), 407–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.11.011
- Garbinski, L. D., Rosen, B. P., & Chen, J. (2019). Pathways of arsenic uptake and efflux. *Environment International*, 126(February), 585–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.02.058
- German, M. S., Watkins, T. A., Chowdhury, M., Chatterjee, P., Rahman, M., Seingheng, H., & Sengupta, A. K. (2019). Evidence of Economically Sustainable Village-Scale Microenterprises for Arsenic Remediation in Developing Countries. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 53(January), 1078–1086. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02523
- Ghosh, J., & Sil, P. C. (2015). Mechanism for Arsenic-Induced Toxic Effects. In *Handbook of Arsenic Toxicology*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418688-0.00008-3
- Gillham, Oh. (1994). Enhanced degradation of halogenated aliphatics by zero-valent iron. *Groundwater*, *32*(6), 958–967.
- Goodman, P. D., Skipper, R., & Aitken, N. (2015). Modern instruments for characterizing degradation in electrical and electronic equipment. In *Reliability Characterisation of Electrical and Electronic Systems* (pp. 43–62). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-78242-221-1.00004-6
- Gude, J. C. J., Rietveld, L. C., & van Halem, D. (2018). As(III) removal in rapid filters: Effect of pH, Fe(II)/Fe(III), filtration velocity and media size. *Water Research*, 147, 342–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.10.005
- Guillod-magnin, R., Brüschweiler, B. J., & Aubert, R. (2018). Arsenic species in rice and rice-based products consumed by toddlers in Switzerland. *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A*, 35(6), 1164–1178. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2018.1440641
- Guo, X., Yang, Z., Dong, H., Guan, X., Ren, Q., Lv, X., & Jin, X. (2016). Simple combination of oxidants with zero-valent-iron (ZVI) achieved very rapid and highly

efficient removal of heavy metals from water. *Water Research*, 88, 671–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.10.045

- Hao, L., Liu, M., Wang, N., & Li, G. (2018). A critical review on arsenic removal from water using iron-based adsorbents. *RSC Advances*, 8(69), 39545–39560. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8ra08512a
- Hare, V., Chowdhary, P., Kumar, B., Sharma, D. C., & Baghel, V. S. (2018). Arsenic Toxicity and Its Remediation Strategies for Fighting the Environmental Threat. In *Emerging and Eco-Friendly Approaches for Waste Management* (Issue April, pp. 1– 435). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-8669-4
- Hassan, Z., & Westerhoff, H. V. (2024). Arsenic Contamination of Groundwater Is Determined by Complex Interactions between Various Chemical and Biological Processes. *Toxics*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics12010089
- HC. (1984). Guidelines for Canadian Drinking Water Quality. In National Meeting -American Chemical Society, Division of Environmental Chemistry (Vol. 24, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1021/ba-1987-0214.ch035
- Hu, R., Gwenzi, W., Sipowo-Tala, V. R., & Noubactep, C. (2019). Water treatment using metallic iron: A tutorial review. *Processes*, 7(9), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr7090622
- Hu, R., Ndé-Tchoupé, A. I., Lufingo, M., Xiao, M., Nassi, A., Noubactep, C., & Njau, K. N. (2019). The impact of selected pretreatment procedures on iron dissolution from metallic iron specimens used in water treatment. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *11*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/su11030671
- Hu, R., Yang, H., Tao, R., Cui, X., Xiao, M., Amoah, B. K., Cao, V., Lufingo, M., Soppa-Sangue, N. P., Ndé-Tchoupé, A. I., Gatcha-Bandjun, N., Sipowo-Tala, V. R., Gwenzi, W., & Noubactep, C. (2020). Metallic iron for environmental remediation: Starting an overdue progress in knowledge. *Water (Switzerland)*, *12*(3), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12030641
- Huang, L., Wu, H., & Van Der Kuijp, T. J. (2015). The health effects of exposure to arseniccontaminated drinking water: A review by global geographical distribution. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 25(4), 432–452. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2014.958139
- Ijumulana, J., Mtalo, F., & Bhattacharya, P. (2018). Potential arsenic contamination in drinking water sources of Tanzania and its link with local geology. *Environmental Arsenic in a ChangingWorld - 7th International Congress and Exhibition Arsenic in the Environment, 2018*, 62–63. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781351046633-24

Irshad, S., Xie, Z., Kamran, M., Nawaz, A., Faheem, Mehmood, S., Gulzar, H., Saleem, M.

H., Rizwan, M., Malik, Z., Parveen, A., & Ali, S. (2021). Biochar composite with microbes enhanced arsenic biosorption and phytoextraction by Typha latifolia in hybrid vertical subsurface flow constructed wetland. *Environmental Pollution*, 291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.118269

- Irunde, R., Lesafi, F. J., Mtalo, F., Bhattacharya, P., Dutta, J., & Bundschuh, J. (2016). Developing innovations for adsorptive removal of arsenic from drinking water sources in north mara gold mining area, Tanzania. Arsenic Research and Global Sustainability -Proceedings of the 6th International Congress on Arsenic in the Environment, AS 2016, June, 559–560. https://doi.org/10.1201/b20466-260
- Izaditame, F., LeMonte, J. J., Siebecker, M. G., Yu, X., Fischel, M., Tappero, R., & Sparks, D. L. (2024). Sea–level rise and arsenic–rich soils: A toxic relationship. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 472(May), 134528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2024.134528
- Jang, Y.-C., Somanna, Y., & Kim, H. (2016). Source, Distribution, Toxicity and Remediation of Arsenic in the Environment – A review. *International Journal of Applied Environmental Sciences ISSN*, 11(2), 973–6077. http://www.ripublication.com
- Kanel, S. R., Manning, B., Charlet, L., & Choi, H. (2005). Removal of arsenic(III) from groundwater by nanoscale zero-valent iron. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 39(5), 1291–1298. https://doi.org/10.1021/es048991u
- Kapepula, V. L., & Luis, P. (2024). Removal of heavy metals from wastewater using reverse osmosis. *Frontiers in Chemical Engineering*, 6(February). https://doi.org/10.3389/fceng.2024.1334816
- Kapp, R. W. (2018). Arsenic Toxicology. In *Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-801238-3.62151-7
- Keerio, G. S., Keerio, H. A., Ibuphoto, K. A., Laghari, M., Panhwar, S., & Talpur, M. A. (2021). Arsenic removal through bio sand filter using different bio-adsorbents. *Journal* of Water and Land Development, 48(1–3), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.24425/jwld.2021.136141
- Khan, M. I., Ahmad, M. F., Ahmad, I., Ashfaq, F., Wahab, S., Alsayegh, A. A., Kumar, S., & Hakeem, K. R. (2022). Arsenic Exposure through Dietary Intake and Associated Health Hazards in the Middle East. *Nutrients*, 14(10), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14102136
- Khanzada, A. K., Rizwan, M., Al-Hazmi, H. E., Majtacz, J., Kurniawan, T. A., & Mąkinia, J. (2023). Removal of Arsenic from Wastewater Using Hydrochar Prepared from Red Macroalgae: Investigating Its Adsorption Efficiency and Mechanism. *Water (Switzerland)*, 15(21). https://doi.org/10.3390/w15213866

- Kheskwani, U., & Ahammed, M. (2023). Removal of water pollutants using plant-based nanoscale zero-valent iron: A review. *Water Science and Technology*, 88(5), 1207–1231. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2023.270
- Khosravi-Darani, K., Rehman, Y., Katsoyiannis, I. A., Kokkinos, E., & Zouboulis, A. I. (2022). Arsenic Exposure via Contaminated Water and Food Sources. *Water* (*Switzerland*), 14(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/w14121884
- Kim, L., Thanh, N. T., Toan, P. Van, Minh, H. V. T., & Kumar, P. (2022). Removal of Arsenic in Groundwater Using Fe(III) Oxyhydroxide Coated Sand: A Case Study in Mekong Delta, Vietnam. *Hydrology*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/hydrology9010015
- Kowalski, K. P., & Søgaard, E. G. (2014). Implementation of zero-valent iron (ZVI) into drinking water supply - Role of the ZVI and biological processes. *Chemosphere*, 117(1), 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.05.088
- Kumari, B., Kumar, V., Sinha, A. K., Ahsan, J., Ghosh, A. K., Wang, H., & DeBoeck, G. (2017). Toxicology of arsenic in fish and aquatic systems. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 15(1), 43–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-016-0588-9
- Kumari, N., & Jagadevan, S. (2016). Genetic identification of arsenate reductase and arsenite oxidase in redox transformations carried out by arsenic metabolising prokaryotes – A comprehensive review. *Chemosphere*, *163*, 400–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.08.044
- Laatikainen, M., Sillanpää, M., & Sainio, T. (2016). Comparison of ion exchange process configurations for arsenic removal from natural waters. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 57(29), 13770–13781. https://doi.org/10.1080/19443994.2015.1061456
- Lackovic, J. A., Nikolaidis, N. P., & Dobbs, G. M. (2000). Inorganic arsenic removal by zero-valent iron. *Environmental Engineering Science*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2000.17.29
- Lalley, J., Han, C., Li, X., Dionysiou, D. D., & Nadagouda, M. N. (2016). Phosphate adsorption using modified iron oxide-based sorbents in lake water: Kinetics, equilibrium, and column tests. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 284, 1386–1396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2015.08.114
- Lawrinenko, M., Kurwadkar, S., & Wilkin, R. T. (2023). Long-term performance evaluation of zero-valent iron amended permeable reactive barriers for groundwater remediation – A mechanistic approach. *Geoscience Frontiers*, 14(2), 101494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gsf.2022.101494
- Li, Y., Wang, C., Zhu, F., Wang, Z., François Soulé, J., Dixneuf, P. H., & Wu, X. F. (2017). An unexpected copper-catalyzed carbonylative acetylation of amines. *Chemical Communications*, 53(1), 142–144. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6CC08929A

- Li, Y., Zhang, D., Li, W., Lan, Y., & Li, Y. (2020). Efficient removal of As(III) from aqueous solution by S-doped copper-lanthanum bimetallic oxides: Simultaneous oxidation and adsorption. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 384(August 2019), 123274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.123274
- Liang, F., Wang, L., Zhu, H., Dong, Q., Zhang, Y., Liu, J., Zhang, S., Ye, Z., Zhang, Y., Zhang, X., & Liu, B. (2022). Study on the Arsenate Removal from Raw As(V)-Rich Wastewater Using Zero-Valent Iron. *Water (Switzerland)*, 14(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/w14071118
- Liao, T., Xi, Y., Zhang, L., Li, J., & Cui, K. (2021). Removal of toxic arsenic (As(III)) from industrial wastewater by ultrasonic enhanced zero-valent lead combined with CuSO4. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 408(August 2020), 124464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124464
- Lien, H. L., & Wilkin, R. T. (2005). High-level arsenite removal from groundwater by zerovalent iron. *Chemosphere*, *59*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.10.055
- Liu, L., Luo, X. B., Ding, L., & Luo, S. L. (2018). Application of Nanotechnology in the Removal of Heavy Metal From Water. In *Nanomaterials for the Removal of Pollutants* and Resource Reutilization. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814837-2.00004-4
- Lloyd, J. R., & Oremland, R. S. (2006). of Arsenic in the environment: From soda lakes to squifers. *Elements*, *2*, 85–90.
- Luo, T., Qin, W., Wang, Y., Sun, Y., Kong, S., Zou, Y., & Liang, W. (2024). Arsenic mobility and microbial community composition in the sediments of coastal wetlands driven by tidal action. *Journal of Environmental Sciences (China)*, xxxx, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2024.01.037
- Ma, M., Lu, Y., Chen, R., Ma, L., & Wang, Y. (2014). Hexavalent Chromium Removal from Water Using Heat-Acid Activated Red Mud. *Open Journal of Applied Sciences*, 04(05), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojapps.2014.45027
- Mahamallik, P., & Swain, R. (2023). A mini-review on arsenic remediation techniques from water and future trends. *Water Science and Technology*, 87(12), 3108–3123. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2023.190
- Majumder, S., & Banik, P. (2019). Geographical variation of arsenic distribution in paddy soil, rice and rice- based products : A meta-analytic approach and implications to human health. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 233(December 2018), 184–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.12.034
- Makota, S., Nde-Tchoupe, A. I., Mwakabona, H. T., Tepong-Tsindé, R., Noubactep, C., Nassi, A., & Njau, K. N. (2017). Metallic iron for water treatment: leaving the valley of

confusion. *Applied Water Science*, 7(8), 4177–4196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-017-0601-x

- Mana, S. C. A., & Fatt, N. T. (2017). Arsenic speciation using ultra high-performance liquid chromatography and inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry in water and sediments samples. *Geology, Ecology, and Landscapes*, 1(2), 121–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/24749508.2017.1332855
- Manning, B. A., Hunt, M. L., Amrhein, C., & Yarmoff, J. A. (2002). Arsenic(III) and arsenic(V) reactions with zerovalent iron corrosion products. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 36(24), 5455–5461. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0206846
- Mawia, A. M., Hui, S., Zhou, L., Li, H., Tabassum, J., Lai, C., Wang, J., Shao, G., Wei, X., Tang, S., Luo, J., Hu, S., & Hu, P. (2021). Inorganic arsenic toxicity and alleviation strategies in rice. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 408, 124751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124751
- Mazumder, G. (2015). Health Effects Chronic Arsenic Toxicity. In *Handbook of Arsenic Toxicology*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418688-0.00006-X
- Melitas, N., Wang, J., Conklin, M., O'Day, P., & Farrell, J. (2002). Understanding soluble arsenate removal kinetics by zerovalent iron media. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 36(9), 2074–2081. https://doi.org/10.1021/es011250y
- Meng, D., Nabi, F., Kama, R., Li, S., Wang, W., Guo, Y., Li, Z., & Li, H. (2024). The interaction between ferrihydrite and arsenic: A review of environmental behavior, mechanism and applied in remediation. *Journal of Hazardous Materials Advances*, *13*(November 2023), 100398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hazadv.2023.100398
- Mitra, A., Chatterjee, S., Moogouei, R., & Gupta, D. K. (2017). *Arsenic Accumulation in Rice and Probable Mitigation Approaches : A Review*. 1–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy7040067
- Mng'ong'o, M., Comber, S., Munishi, L. K., Blake, W., Ndakidemi, P. A., & Hutchinson, T. H. (2021). Assessment of arsenic status and distribution in Usangu agro-ecosystem-Tanzania. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 294(June), 113012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113012
- Mohan, D., & Pittman, C. U. (2007). Arsenic removal from water/wastewater using adsorbents-A critical review. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *142*(1–2), 1–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.01.006
- Morgada, M. E., Levy, I. K., Salomone, V., Farías, S. S., López, G., & Litter, M. I. (2009). Arsenic (V) removal with nanoparticulate zerovalent iron: Effect of UV light and humic acids. *Catalysis Today*, 143(3–4), 261–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2008.09.038

- Muzaffar, S., Khan, J., Srivastava, R., Gorbatyuk, M. S., & Athar, M. (2023). Mechanistic understanding of the toxic effects of arsenic and warfare arsenicals on human health and environment. *Cell Biology and Toxicology*, 39(1), 85–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-022-09710-8
- Naseri, E., Ndé-Tchoupé, A. I., Mwakabona, H. T., Nanseu-Njiki, C. P., Noubactep, C., Njau, K. N., & Wydra, K. D. (2017). Making Fe0-based filters a universal solution for safe drinking water provision. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 9(7), 1–32. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9071224
- Nasseh, I., Khodadadi, M., Khosravi, R., Beirami, A., & Nasseh, N. (2016). Metronidazole Removal Methods from Aquatic Media: A Systematic Review. *Annals of Military and Health Sciences Research*, 14(4). https://doi.org/10.5812/amh.13756
- Ndé-Tchoupé, A. I., Konadu-Amoah, B., Gatcha-Bandjun, N., Hu, R., Gwenzi, W., & Noubactep, C. (2022). Kanchan Arsenic Filters for Household Water Treatment: Unsuitable or Unsustainable? *Water (Switzerland)*, 14(15). https://doi.org/10.3390/w14152318
- Ngai, T. K. K., Murcott, S., Shrestha, R. R., Dangol, B., & Maharjan, M. (2006). Development and dissemination of KanchanTM Arsenic Filter in rural Nepal. *Water Science and Technology: Water Supply*, 6(3), 137–146. https://doi.org/10.2166/ws.2006.807
- Nguyen, T. H., Nguyen, T. V., Vigneswaran, S., Ha, N. T. H., & Ratnaweera, H. (2023). A Review of Theoretical Knowledge and Practical Applications of Iron-Based Adsorbents for Removing Arsenic from Water. *Minerals*, 13(6), 741. https://doi.org/10.3390/min13060741
- NHMRC. (2011). Australian drinking water guidelines Paper 6: National Water Quality Management Strategy, version 3.4 Updated October 2017 (Issue October).
- Nicomel, N. R., Leus, K., Folens, K., Van Der Voort, P., & Du Laing, G. (2015). Technologies for arsenic removal from water: Current status and future perspectives. In *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* (Vol. 13, Issue 1). MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13010062
- Nordstrom, D. K. (2002). Worldwide occurrences of arsenic in ground water. *Science*, 296(5576). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1072375
- Noubactep, C. (2010). *The fundamental mechanism of aqueous contaminant removal by metallic iron. 36*(5), 663–670.
- Noubactep, C. (2015). Metallic iron for environmental remediation: A review of reviews. *Water Research*, 85(November 2015), 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.08.023

- Noubactep, C. (2018). A framework for technology development in Africa : The case of metallic iron (Fe0) filters for safe drinking water provision. February.
- Noubactep, C., Caré, S., & Crane, R. (2012). Nanoscale metallic iron for environmental remediation: Prospects and limitations. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 223(3), 1363–1382. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-011-0951-1
- Nurchi, V. M., Djordjevic, A. B., Crisponi, G., Alexander, J., Bjørklund, G., & Aaseth, J. (2020). Arsenic toxicity: Molecular targets and therapeutic agents. *Biomolecules*, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10020235
- Osman, A. I., Chen, Z., Elgarahy, A. M., Farghali, M., Mohamed, I. M. A., Priya, A. K., Hawash, H. B., & Yap, P. S. (2024). Membrane Technology for Energy Saving: Principles, Techniques, Applications, Challenges, and Prospects. *Advanced Energy and Sustainability Research*, 5(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/aesr.202400011
- Patel, K. S., Pandey, P. K., Martín-Ramos, P., Corns, W. T., Varol, S., Bhattacharya, P., & Zhu, Y. (2023). A review on arsenic in the environment: contamination, mobility, sources, and exposure. *RSC Advances*, *13*(13), 8803–8821. https://doi.org/10.1039/d3ra00789h
- Paul, N. P., Galván, A. E., Yoshinaga-Sakurai, K., Rosen, B. P., & Yoshinaga, M. (2023). Arsenic in medicine: past, present and future. *BioMetals*, 36(2), 283–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10534-022-00371-y
- Pezeshki, H., Hashemi, M., & Rajabi, S. (2023). Removal of arsenic as a potentially toxic element from drinking water by filtration: A mini review of nanofiltration and reverse osmosis techniques. *Heliyon*, 9(3), e14246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e14246
- Pintor, A. M. A., Vieira, B. R. C., Santos, S. C. R., Boaventura, R. A. R., & Botelho, C. M. S. (2018). Arsenate and arsenite adsorption onto iron-coated cork granulates. *Science of the Total Environment*, 642, 1075–1089. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.170
- Plessl, K., Russ, A., & Vollprecht, D. (2022). Application and development of zero-valent iron (ZVI) for groundwater and wastewater treatment. In *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. Institute for Ionics. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-022-04536-7
- Plessl, K., Russ, A., & Vollprecht, D. (2023). Application and development of zero-valent iron (ZVI) for groundwater and wastewater treatment. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 20(6), 6913–6928. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-022-04536-7
- Podgorski, J., & Berg, M. (2020). Global threat of arsenic in groundwater. *Science*, *368*(6493), 845–850. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aba1510

- Qasem, N. A. A., Mohammed, R. H., & Lawal, D. U. (2021). Removal of heavy metal ions from wastewater: a comprehensive and critical review. *Npj Clean Water*, *4*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41545-021-00127-0
- Qiao, J., Liu, Y., Yang, H., Guan, X., & Sun, Y. (2021). Remediation of arsenic contaminated soil by sulfidated zero-valent iron. *Frontiers of Environmental Science and Engineering*, 15(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-020-1377-z
- Quino-Favero, J., Perez, R. E., Veramendi, P. P., García, P. M., & Del Pino, L. F. (2021). Assessing the removal of arsenite and arsenate mixtures from the synthetic bangladesh groundwater (Sbgw) using combined fe(vi)/fe(iii) treatments and local regression analysis. *Water (Switzerland)*, *13*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/w13091134
- Rahaman, M. S., Rahman, M. M., Mise, N., Sikder, M. T., Ichihara, G., Uddin, M. K., Kurasaki, M., & Ichihara, S. (2021). Environmental arsenic exposure and its contribution to human diseases, toxicity mechanism and management. *Environmental Pollution*, 289(August), 117940. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117940
- Rahidul, H. H. (2023). A review on different arsenic removal techniques used for decontamination of drinking water. *Environmental Pollutants and Bioavailability*, 35(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/26395940.2023.2165964
- Rahidul Hassan, H. (2023). A review on different arsenic removal techniques used for decontamination of drinking water. *Environmental Pollutants and Bioavailability*, 35(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/26395940.2023.2165964
- Raju, N. J. (2022). Arsenic in the geo-environment: A review of sources, geochemical processes, toxicity and removal technologies. *Environmental Research*, 203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111782
- Ramasamy, S., & Lee, J. S. (2015). Arsenic Risk Assessment. In *Handbook of Arsenic Toxicology* (pp. 95–120). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418688-0.00004-6
- Ramos, M. A. V., Weile, Y., Li, X. Q., Koel, B. E., & Zhang, W. X. (2009). Simultaneous oxidation and reduction of arsenic by zero-valent iron nanoparticles:Understanding the significance of the core-shell structure. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, *113*(33), 14591–14594. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp9051837
- Rangsivek, R., & Jekel, M. R. (2005). Removal of dissolved metals by zero-valent iron (ZVI): Kinetics, equilibria, processes and implications for stormwater runoff treatment. *Water Research*, *39*(17), 4153–4163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.07.040
- Rashadul, M., & Chowdhury, I. (2015). *Removal of Arsenic from Contaminated Water by Granular Activated Carbon Embedded with Nano scale Zero-valent Iron.*

- Rashid, U. S., Saini-Eidukat, B., & Bezbaruah, A. N. (2020). Modeling arsenic removal by nanoscale zero-valent iron. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 192(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-020-8075-y
- Ratnaike, R. N. (2003). Acute and chronic arsenic toxicity. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 79(933), 391–396. https://doi.org/10.1136/pmj.79.933.391
- Refait, P., Géhin, A., Abdelmoula, M., & Génin, J. M. R. (2003). Coprecipitation thermodynamics of iron(II-III) hydroxysulphate green rust from Fe(II) and Fe(III) salts. *Corrosion Science*, 45(4), 659–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-938X(02)00138-5
- Richards, L. A., Parashar, N., Kumari, R., Kumar, A., Mondal, D., Ghosh, A., & Polya, D. A. (2022). Household and community systems for groundwater remediation in Bihar, India: Arsenic and inorganic contaminant removal, controls and implications for remediation selection. *Science of the Total Environment*, 830. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154580
- Rodríguez-Martín, D., Murciano, A., Herráiz, M., de Francisco, P., Amaro, F., Gutiérrez, J. C., Martín-González, A., & Díaz, S. (2022). Arsenate and arsenite differential toxicity in Tetrahymena thermophila. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 431(February). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.128532
- Sanyal, T., Bhattacharjee, P., Paul, S., & Bhattacharjee, P. (2020). Recent Advances in Arsenic Research: Significance of Differential Susceptibility and Sustainable Strategies for Mitigation. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 8(October). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00464
- Sarwar, A., Mahmood, Q., Bilal, M., Bhatti, Z. A., Pervez, A., Saqib, A. N. S., Khan, A. R., & Sultan, S. (2015). Investigation on Melia azedarach biomass for arsenic remediation from contaminated water. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 53(6), 1632–1640. https://doi.org/10.1080/19443994.2013.855883
- Sawana, R., Somasundar, Y., Iyer, V. S., & Baruwati, B. (2017). Ceria modified activated carbon: an efficient arsenic removal adsorbent for drinking water purification. *Applied Water Science*, 7(3), 1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-016-0398-z
- Selinus, O., Alloway, B., Centeno, J. A., Finkelman, R. B., Fuge, R., Lindh, U., & Smedley, P. (2013). Essentials of medical geology: Revised edition. In *Essentials of Medical Geology: Revised Edition*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4375-5
- Sevak, P., & Pushkar, B. (2024). Arsenic pollution cycle, toxicity and sustainable remediation technologies: A comprehensive review and bibliometric analysis. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 349(March 2023), 119504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2023.119504

Shankar, S., Shanker, U., & Shikha. (2014). Arsenic contamination of groundwater: A review

of sources, prevalence, health risks, and strategies for mitigation. In *Scientific World Journal* (Vol. 2014). Hindawi Publishing Corporation. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/304524

- Siciliano, A., & Limonti, C. (2018). Nanoscopic zero-valent iron supported on MgO for lead removal from waters. *Water (Switzerland)*, *10*(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/w10040404
- Siddiqui, S. I., & Chaudhry, S. A. (2017). Iron oxide and its modified forms as an adsorbent for arsenic removal: A comprehensive recent advancement. *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, 111, 592–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2017.08.009
- Simon, S., Courtin-Nomade, A., Vasiliu, A., Sleiman, N., & Deluchat, V. (2016). Long-term influence of aeration on arsenic trapping in a ZVI/sand bed reactor. *RSC Advances*, 6(59), 54479–54485. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ra06565a
- Simsek, F. G. (2020). Handheld X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) Versus Wavelength Dispersive XRF: Characterization of Chinese Blue-and-White Porcelain Sherds Using Handheld and Laboratory-Type XRF Instruments. *Applied Spectroscopy*, 74(3), 314–322. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003702819890645
- Singh, G., Singh, A., Shukla, R., Karwadiya, J., Gupta, A., Naheed, A., & Mishra, V. K. (2021). Occurrence, Fate, and Remediation of Arsenic. *Pollutants and Water Management: Resources, Strategies and Scarcity, April*, 349–376. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119693635.ch14
- Singh, P., Pal, P., Mondal, P., Saravanan, G., Nagababu, P., Majumdar, S., Labhsetwar, N., & Bhowmick, S. (2021). Kinetics and mechanism of arsenic removal using sulfidemodified nanoscale zerovalent iron. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 412(January), 128667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2021.128667
- Singh, S., Yadav, R., Sharma, S., & Singh, A. N. (2023). Arsenic contamination in the food chain: A threat to food security and human health. *Journal of Applied Biology and Biotechnology*, 11(4), 24–33. https://doi.org/10.7324/JABB.2023.69922
- Sista, K. S., Kumar, D., Sinha, G. R., Moon, A. P., & Dwarapudi, S. (2021). Iron powders as a potential material for arsenic removal in aqueous systems. *ISIJ International*, *61*(11), 2687–2702. https://doi.org/10.2355/isijinternational.ISIJINT-2021-258
- Smith, K., Li, Z., Chen, B., Liang, H., Zhang, X., Xu, R., Li, Z., Dai, H., Wei, C., & Liu, S. (2017). Comparison of sand-based water filters for point-of-use arsenic removal in China. *Chemosphere*, 168, 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.10.021
- Soares, M. B., Pedrinho, A., Ferreira, J. R., Mendes, L. W., Colzato, M., & Alleoni, L. R. F. (2024). Redox conditions and biochar pyrolysis temperature affecting As and Pb biogeochemical cycles and bacterial community of sediment from mining tailings. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 471(December 2023).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2024.134303

- Song, P., Yang, Z., Zeng, G., Yang, X., Xu, H., Wang, L., Xu, R., Xiong, W., & Ahmad, K. (2017). Electrocoagulation treatment of arsenic in wastewaters: A comprehensive review. In *Chemical Engineering Journal* (Vol. 317). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.02.086
- Stefánsson, A. (2007). Iron (III) hydrolysis and solubility at 25 degrees C. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *41*(17), 6117–61123.
- Stuyfzand, P. J., & Bonte, M. (2023). A critical review of arsenic occurrence, fate and transport in natural and modified groundwater systems in The Netherlands. *Applied Geochemistry*, 150(September 2022), 105596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2023.105596
- Sun, F., Osseo-Asare, K. A., Chen, Y., & Dempsey, B. A. (2011). Reduction of As(V) to As(III) by commercial ZVI or As(0) with acid-treated ZVI. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 196, 311–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.09.029
- Sun, Y., Li, J., Huang, T., & Guan, X. (2016). The influences of iron characteristics, operating conditions and solution chemistry on contaminants removal by zero-valent iron: A review. *Water Research*, 100, 277–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.05.031
- Tang, Q., Shi, P., Yuan, Z., Shi, S., Xu, X., & Katsumi, T. (2019). Potential of zero-valent iron in remediation of Cd(II) contaminated soil: From laboratory experiment, mechanism study to field application. *Soils and Foundations*, 59(6), 2099–2109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sandf.2019.11.005
- Tao, R., Yang, H., Cui, X., Xiao, M., Gatcha-Bandjun, N., Kenmogne-Tchidjo, J. F., Lufingo, M., Amoah, B. K., Tepong-Tsindé, R., Ndé-Tchoupé, A. I., Touomo-Wouafo, M., Btatkeu-K, B. D., Gwenzi, W., Hu, R., Tchatchueng, J. B., Ruppert, H., & Noubactep, C. (2022). The Suitability of Hybrid Fe0/Aggregate Filtration Systems for Water Treatment. *Water (Switzerland)*, *14*(2), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/w14020260
- Taylor, V., Goodale, B., Raab, A., Schwerdtle, T., Reimer, K., Conklin, S., Karagas, M. R., & Francesconi, K. A. (2017). Science of the Total Environment Human exposure to organic arsenic species from seafood. *Science of the Total Environment*, 580, 266–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.113
- Thakur, M., Rachamalla, M., Niyogi, S., Datusalia, A. K., & Flora, S. J. S. (2021). Molecular mechanism of arsenic-induced neurotoxicity including neuronal dysfunctions. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(18). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms221810077

Uddin, M. J., & Jeong, Y. K. (2020). Review: Efficiently performing periodic elements with

modern adsorption technologies for arsenic removal. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 27(32), 39888–39912. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-10323-z

- Ullah, S., Faiz, P., & Leng, S. (2020). Synthesis, Mechanism, and Performance Assessment of Zero-Valent Iron for Metal-Contaminated Water Remediation: A Review. *Clean -Soil, Air, Water*, 48(9), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/clen.202000080
- Upadhyay, M. K., Shukla, A., Yadav, P., & Srivastava, S. (2019). A review of arsenic in crops, vegetables, animals and food products. *Food Chemistry*, 276, 608–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.10.069
- Urrialde, V., Alburquerque, B., Guirao-Abad, J. P., Pla, J., Argüelles, J. C., & Alonso-Monge, R. (2017). Arsenic inorganic compounds cause oxidative stress mediated by the transcription factor PHO4 in Candida albicans. *Microbiological Research*, 203(February), 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2017.06.004
- Valencia Ramos, M. A. (2011). Sequestration of Arsenic by nanoscale Zero-Valent Iron (nZVI): Surface Reactions Characterized by High Resolution X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (HR-XPS). *Thesis and Dissertations.*, *Paper 1311*, 136. https://preserve.lehigh.edu/etd/1311/
- Virk, R. K., Garla, R., Kaushal, N., Bansal, M. P., Garg, M. L., & Mohanty, B. P. (2023). The relevance of arsenic speciation analysis in health & medicine. *Chemosphere*, *316*(September 2022), 137735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2023.137735
- Vromman, D., Martínez, J. P., Kumar, M., Šlejkovec, Z., & Lutts, S. (2018). Comparative effects of arsenite (As(III)) and arsenate (As(V)) on whole plants and cell lines of the arsenic-resistant halophyte plant species Atriplex atacamensis. *Environmental Science* and Pollution Research, 25(34), 34473–34486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-3351-x
- Wang, C., Wang, S., Song, C., Liu, H., & Yang, J. (2022). Improved Electron Efficiency of Zero-Valent Iron towards Cr(VI) Reduction after Sequestering in Al2O3 Microspheres. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(14). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19148367
- Wang, S., Gao, B., Li, Y., Creamer, A. E., & He, F. (2017). Adsorptive removal of arsenate from aqueous solutions by biochar supported zero-valent iron nanocomposite: Batch and continuous flow tests. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 322, 172–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.01.052
- Wang, Y., Zhang, L., Guo, C., Gao, Y., Pan, S., Liu, Y., Li, X., & Wang, Y. (2022). Arsenic removal performance and mechanism from water on iron hydroxide nanopetalines. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-21707-1

Weber, A., Ruhl, A. S., & Amos, R. T. (2013). Investigating dominant processes in ZVI

permeable reactive barriers using reactive transport modeling. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 151, 68–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconhyd.2013.05.001

- Wenk, C. B., Kaegi, R., & Hug, S. J. (2014). Factors affecting arsenic and uranium removal with zero-valent iron: Laboratory tests with Kanchan-type iron nail filter columns with different groundwaters. *Environmental Chemistry*, 11(5), 547–557. https://doi.org/10.1071/EN14020
- WHO. (2011). Arsenic in drinking water. In *Chemical Health and Safety*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-9098(02)00298-8
- Wu, F., Zhao, C., Qu, G., Yan, Z., Zeng, Y., Chen, B., Hu, Y., Ji, W., Li, Y., & Tang, H. (2021). Adsorption of arsenic from aqueous solution using a zero-valent iron material modified by the ionic liquid [Hmim]SbF6. *RSC Advances*, 11(12), 6577–6585. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0ra09339d
- Xi, Y., Zou, J., Luo, Y., Li, J., Li, X., Liao, T., Zhang, L., Wang, C., & Lin, G. (2019). Performance and mechanism of arsenic removal in waste acid by combination of CuSO4 and zero-valent iron. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.121928
- Xiao, M., Hu, R., Ndé-Tchoupé, A. I., Gwenzi, W., & Noubactep, C. (2022). Metallic Iron for Water Remediation: Plenty of Room for Collaboration and Convergence to Advance the Science. *Water (Switzerland)*, *14*(9), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/w14091492
- Xie, X., Yan, L., Sun, S., Pi, K., Shi, J., & Wang, Y. (2024). Arsenic biogeochemical cycling association with basin-scale dynamics of microbial functionality and organic matter molecular composition. *Water Research*, 251(January), 121117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2024.121117
- Xu, L., Shu, Z., Feng, L., Zhou, J., Li, T., Zhao, Z., & Wang, W. (2022). Fresh biomass derived biochar with high-load zero-valent iron prepared in one step for efficient arsenic removal. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 352(March), 131616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.131616
- Yadav, R., Sharma, A. K., & Babu, J. N. (2016). Sorptive removal of arsenite [As(III)] and arsenate [As(V)] by fuller's earth immobilized nanoscale zero-valent iron nanoparticles (F-nZVI): Effect of Fe0 loading on adsorption activity. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 4(1), 681–694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2015.12.019
- Yang, J., Zhu, M., Wang, X., Alvarez, P. J. J., & Liu, K. (2015). Poly(vinylidene fluoride) membrane supported nano zero-valent iron for metronidazole removal: Influences of calcium and bicarbonate ions. *Journal of the Taiwan Institute of Chemical Engineers*, 49, 113–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2014.11.033
- Yettefti, I. K., Aboussabiq, F., Etahiri, S., Mountadar, M., & Assobhei, O. (2013).

Performance evaluation of sand filter for tertiary treatment of secondary effluent of wastewater: effect of hydraulic loading evaluation des performances des filtres a sable pour le traitement tertiaire de l'effluent secondaire des eaux usees: effet de la charge hydraulique. In *Phys. Chem. News* (Vol. 68).

- Yu, F., Sun, S., Ma, J., & Han, S. (2015). Enhanced removal performance of arsenate and arsenite by magnetic graphene oxide with high iron oxide loading. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 17(6), 4388–4397. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4cp04835k
- Zawierucha, I., Nowik-Zajac, A., Girek, T., Lagiewka, J., Ciesielski, W., Pawlowska, B., & Biczak, R. (2022). Arsenic(V) Removal from Water by Resin Impregnated with Cyclodextrin Ligand. *Processes*, *10*(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/pr10020253
- Zhang, J., Hamza, A., Xie, Z., Hussain, S., Brestic, M., Tahir, M. A., Ulhassan, Z., Yu, M., Allakhverdiev, S. I., & Shabala, S. (2021). Arsenic transport and interaction with plant metabolism: Clues for improving agricultural productivity and food safety. *Environmental Pollution*, 290(August), 117987. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117987
- Zhang, W., Miao, A. J., Wang, N. X., Li, C., Sha, J., Jia, J., Alessi, D. S., Yan, B., & Ok, Y. S. (2022). Arsenic bioaccumulation and biotransformation in aquatic organisms. *Environment International*, 163(March), 107221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107221
- Zhao, J., Su, A., Tian, P., Tang, X., Collins, R. N., & He, F. (2021). Arsenic (III) removal by mechanochemically sulfidated microscale zero valent iron under anoxic and oxic conditions. *Water Research*, 198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117132
- Zheng, L., Liu, Z., Yan, Z., Yi, X., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zheng, X., & Zhu, Y. (2017). Deriving water quality criteria for trivalent and pentavalent arsenic. *Science of the Total Environment*, 587–588, 68–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.004
- Zhou, Z., Alhadidi, Q., Quiñones Deliz, K., Yamaguchi Greenslet, H., & Bonzongo, J. C. (2020). Removal of Oxyanion Forming Elements from Contaminated Soils through Combined Sorption onto Zero-Valent Iron (ZVI) and Magnetic Separation: Arsenic and Chromium as Case Studies. *Soil and Sediment Contamination*, 29(2), 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1080/15320383.2019.1696279
- Zhu, H., Jia, Y., Wu, X., & Wang, H. (2009). Removal of arsenic from water by supported nano zero-valent iron on activated carbon. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *172*(2–3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.08.031
- Zhu, H., Shi, M., Zhang, X., Liu, B., & Yao, D. (2020). Adsorption kinetics of arsenic (V) on nanoscale zero-valent iron supported by activated carbon. *Nanomaterials*, 10(9), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano10091791